Public Document Pack

To:

Chair and Members of the Planning
Committee

Date:

8 July 2021

Direct Dial:

01824 712589

e-mail:

democratic@denbighshire.gov.uk

Dear Councillor
You are invited to attend a meeting of the PLANNING COMMITTEE to be held at 9.30
AM on WEDNESDAY, 14 JULY 2021 in VIA VIDEO CONFERENCE.
Yours sincerely

G Williams
Head of Legal, HR and Democratic Services

AGENDA
1

APOLOGIES (Pages 5 - 6)

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST (Pages 7 - 8)
Members to declare any personal or prejudicial interests in any business
identified to be considered at this meeting.

3

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR (Pages 9 - 34)
Notice of items which, in the opinion of the Chair, should be considered at the
meeting as a matter of urgency pursuant to Section 100B(4) of the Local
Government Act, 1972.

4

MINUTES (Pages 35 - 40)
To confirm the accuracy of the minutes of the Planning Committee meeting
held on the 16 June 2021 (copy attached).

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 5 - 9) 5

APPLICATION NO. 02/2021/0179/PF - THE NOOK, BRYN GOODMAN,
RUTHIN (Pages 41 - 80)
To consider an application for demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4
residential apartments with associated parking and rear access (copy
attached).

6

APPLICATION NO. 44/2021/0163/PO - LAND AT (PART GARDEN OF)
THE RISE, RHYL ROAD, RHUDDLAN (Pages 81 - 124)
To consider an application for development of 0.21 ha of land by the erection
of 4 no. dwellings and construction of access road (outline application
including access, appearance, layout and scale) (copy attached).

7

APPLICATION NO. 45/2018/1215/PF - LAND AT RHYL SOUTH EAST
BETWEEN BRO DEG AND DYSERTH ROAD, RHYL (Pages 125 - 152)
To consider an application for erection of 109 dwellings and associated works
(Phase 5) (copy attached).

8

APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0844/PF - SANDY LODGE, 83 DYSERTH
ROAD, RHYL (Pages 153 - 178)
To consider an application for alteration and adaption of existing Nursing
Home to include extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two
fire escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy. (copy attached).

9

APPLICATION NO. 47/2021/0257/PF - 2 BRYN IBOD, WAEN, ST. ASAPH
(Pages 179 - 204)
To consider an application for the erection of rear two storey extension with
adjoining single storey extension (copy attached).

MEMBERSHIP
Councillors
Councillor Joe Welch (Chair)
Joan Butterfield
Ellie Chard
Ann Davies
Peter Evans
Alan Hughes
Brian Jones
Tina Jones
Gwyneth Kensler
Christine Marston
Melvyn Mile

Bob Murray
Merfyn Parry
Paul Penlington
Pete Prendergast
Peter Scott
Tony Thomas
Julian Thompson-Hill
Emrys Wynne
Mark Young

COPIES TO:
All Councillors for information
Press and Libraries
Town and Community Councils

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 1
WELCOME TO DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL'S
PLANNING COMMITTEE
HOW THE MEETING WILL BE CONDUCTED
– Virtual arrangements June 2020
Unless the Chair of the Committee advises to the contrary, the order in which the main items will be taken will follow the
agenda set out at the front of this report.

General introduction
The Chair will open the meeting at 9.30am and welcome everyone to the Planning Committee.
The Chair will ask if there are any apologies for absence and declarations of interest.
The Chair will invite Officers to make a brief introduction to matters relevant to the meeting.
Officers will outline as appropriate items where we have received requests for deferral, withdrawals, special reports, and
any Part 2 items where the press and public may be excluded. Reference will be made to additional information prior to
the start of the meeting, including the late representations/amendments summary sheets (‘Blue Sheets’) and any
supplementary or revised plans relating to items for consideration.
The Blue Sheets' contain important information, including a summary of material received in relation to items on the
agenda between the completion of the main reports and the day before the meeting. The sheets also set out the
proposed running order on planning applications.
In relation to the running order of items, any Members seeking to bring forward consideration of an item will be expected
to make such a request immediately following the Officer's introduction. Any such request must be made as a formal
proposal and will be subject to a vote.
The Planning Committee currently consists of 19 elected Members. In accordance with protocol, 10 Members must be
present at the start of a debate on an item to constitute quorum and to allow a vote to be taken.
County Council Members who are not elected onto Planning Committee may attend the meeting and speak on an item,
but are not able to make a proposal to grant or refuse, or to vote.

CONSIDERING PLANNING APPLICATIONS
The sequence to be followed
The Chair will announce the item which is to be dealt with next. In relation to planning applications, reference will be
made to the application number, the location and basis of the proposal, the relevant local Members for the area, and the
Officer recommendation.
If any Member is minded to propose deferral of an item, including to allow for the site to be visited by a Site Inspection
Panel, the request should be made, with the planning reason for deferral, before any public speaking or debate on that
item.
Where relevant, the Chair will offer the opportunity for Members to read any late information on an item on the 'Blue
Sheets' before proceeding.
Prior to any debate, the Chair may invite Officers to provide a brief introduction to an item where this is considered to be
worthwhile in view of the nature of the application. In addition the Officers may read out any prepared speech by an

Page 5

interested party for or against the application. The speech provided against any application will be read out first.

The Chair will announce that the item is open for debate and offer Members opportunity to speak and to make
propositions on the item.
If any application has been subject to a Site Inspection Panel prior to the Committee, the Chair will normally invite those
Members who attended, including the Local Member, to speak first.
On all other applications, the Chair will permit the Local Member(s) to speak first, should he/she/they wish to do so.
Members are normally limited to a maximum of five minutes speaking time, and the Chair will conduct the debate in
accordance with Standing Orders.
Once a Member has spoken, he/she should not speak again unless seeking clarification of points arising in debate,
and then only once all other Members have had the opportunity to speak, and with the agreement of the Chair.
At the conclusion of Members debate, the Chair will ask Officers to respond as appropriate to questions and points
raised, including advice on any resolution in conflict with the recommendation.
Prior to proceeding to the vote, the Chair will invite or seek clarification of propositions and seconders for propositions for
or against the Officer recommendation, or any other resolutions including amendments to propositions. Where a
proposition is made contrary to the Officer recommendation, the Chair will seek clarification of the planning reason(s) for
that proposition, in order that this may be recorded in the Minutes of the meeting. The Chair may request comment from
the Legal and Planning Officer on the validity of the stated reason(s).
The Chair will announce when the debate is closed, and that voting is to follow.

The voting procedure
Before requesting Members to vote, the Chair will announce what resolutions have been made, and how the vote is to
proceed. If necessary, further clarification may be sought of amendments, new or additional conditions and reasons for
refusal, so there is no ambiguity over what the Committee is voting for or against.
The voting will proceed with the Chair going around all the Planning Committee members eligible to vote to ask for their
verbal “For”, “Against” or “Abstain” vote. The votes will be marked down and the Chair will then announce whether that
application has been approved or refused.

Page 6

Agenda Item 2
LOCAL GOVERNMENT ACT 2000
Code of Conduct for Members

DISCLOSURE AND REGISTRATION OF INTERESTS

I, (name)

a *member/co-opted member of

Denbighshire County Council

(*please delete as appropriate)

CONFIRM that I have declared a *personal / personal and prejudicial
interest not previously declared in accordance with the provisions of Part
III of the Council’s Code of Conduct for Members, in respect of the
following:(*please delete as appropriate)

Date of Disclosure:

Committee (please specify):

Agenda Item No.

Subject Matter:

Nature of Interest:
(See the note below)*

Signed

Date
*Note: Please provide sufficient detail e.g. ‘I am the owner of land adjacent to the application for planning permission
made by Mr Jones', or 'My husband / wife is an employee of the company which has made an application for financial
assistance’.

Page 7

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 3

PLANNING COMMITTEE
14TH JULY 2021
ADDITIONAL ITEM
REPORT BY THE HEAD OF PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND COUNTRYSIDE SERVICES

ELWY SOLAR ENERGY FARM - DEVELOPMENT OF NATIONAL
SIGNIFICANCE
APPROVAL TO SUBMIT A LOCAL IMPACT REPORT AND FORMAL
REPRESENTATIONS TO THE PLANNING INSPECTORATE
1. PURPOSE OF THIS REPORT
1.1 The Elwy Solar Energy Farm Development of National Significance application has been formally accepted
by the Planning Inspectorate, who will consider the application on behalf of Welsh Ministers.
1.2 Denbighshire County Council is required to submit a Local Impact Report and has been invited to make
formal representations on the application.
1.3 This report seeks Members approval to submit a Local Impact Report, and to seek a formal resolution on the
representations to be made in response to the application.
2. BACKGROUND
2.1 Applications for Developments of National Significance (DNS) are submitted to the Planning Inspectorate
and determined by Welsh Government rather than local planning authorities.
2.2 An application for a Solar Park at land at Gwernigron Farm, The Roe, St. Asaph with an export capacity of
62MW has been submitted to Welsh Ministers by Solar Century Holdings Ltd under the Developments of
National Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016. The application was formally accepted by the Planning
Inspectorate on 22 June 2021.
2.3 The Council is now required to submit a Local Impact Report to the Planning Inspectorate. The Council is
also invited to submit formal representations on the proposal. The Local Impact Report and any
representations must be submitted to the Planning Inspectorate by 27 July 2021.
2.4 In accordance with the Scheme of Delegation, Committee approval is required to submit Local Impact
Reports and any formal representations on major infrastructure projects.
2.5 Members may remember that the proposal was subject to formal pre-application consultation during the
summer / autumn of 2020. In response to the developer’s pre-application consultation, in November 2020
Planning Committee resolved to “support in principle the pre-application consultation, subject to the formal
application and subject to the local impact report.”
3. THE ELWY SOLAR ENERGY FARM PROPOSAL:
3.1 Solar Century (the developer) are proposing a solar energy farm development on land to the north of the
A55 and to the west of A525 in St Asaph. The proposed grid connection corridor also forms part of the
application; the corridor, crosses through the St Asaph Business Park to the south of the A55 and extends to
the existing National Grid substation which is located to the south of Glascoed Road.
3.2 The site is approximately 156 hectares in size and the solar energy farm would have an installed capacity of
62MW (megawatts).
3.3 The site lies within the St Asaph West, Bodelwyddan and Trefnant Ward Areas.
3.4 The location plan and proposed site layout plan is attached at the front of this report.

1

Page 9

3.5 The solar energy farm would comprise of the following elements:


Photovoltaic (PV) arrays (fixed panels);



25 Substations (40ft) positioned around the site;



Customer Switchgear building;



Battery Storage Compound;



Boundary fencing;



A CCTV system on c.3m poles, located at strategic points around the site;



Associated access tracks, including a permanent access track and temporary construction only
access track;



The main site access will be into the south-eastern boundary of the site from St Asaph Road (A525).
An additional access has been proposed into the eastern site boundary, this access is intended for
use during the construction phase only. Some widening works are required at these entrances to
allow safe access for construction vehicles;



Storage container(s) for spare parts etc.;



Relevant communications and monitoring equipment located in/ on the other structures of the
development listed above;



Underground cable connecting the site with the electricity grid at the Bodelwyddan National Grid
substation.

4. LOCAL IMPACT REPORT
4.1 It is a formal requirement of the DNS process that any relevant local planning authority must submit a Local
Impact Report, giving details of the likely impact of the proposed development on the authority’s area.
4.2 The Local Impact Report is a written report detailing the likely impact of the proposed development on any
part of the authority’s area, based on their existing body of local knowledge and robust evidence of local
issues, and should list the impacts and their relative importance.
4.3 The Local Impact Report is meant to give a factual, objective view of the impacts of the proposed
development on the area in question. The impacts should be presented in terms of their positive, neutral and
negative effects.
4.4 The report is distinct from any representation a local authority may make on the merits of an application. A
local authority or individual Councillor may submit a separate representation on the merits of the application.
4.5 The Local Impact Report may draw attention to matters raised with the local planning authority by interested
parties or community groups, but only if the authority considers those matters to be planning considerations
that should be included in the report.
4.6 In producing a Local Impact Report, the local authority is not required to carry out its own consultation with
the community.
4.7 A draft Local Impact Report is attached as Appendix 1 to this report.
4.8 Due to the timescales imposed by the Planning Inspectorate and the timing of comments from internal
specialist Officers, the Local Impact Report has not been finalised at the time of writing this report.
4.9 Approval is therefore sought from Committee to delegate the approval of the final Local Impact Report to
Officers, in consultation with the Members. Officers would suggest the final Local Impact Report is issued to
the St Asaph West, Bodelwyddan and Trefnant Ward Councillors, Chair of Planning Committee and the
Lead Member for Planning prior to its submission to the Planning Inspectorate.
5. FORMAL REPRESENTATIONS

2

Page 10

5.1 The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Amendment of 2050 Emissions Target) Regulations 2021 has set an
amended target of reducing carbon emissions in Wales to net zero by 2050.
5.2 Welsh Government have set a target of 70% of electricity consumption in Wales to be generated from
renewable energy by 2030.
5.3 Denbighshire County Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in July 2019 and aim to become
a net carbon zero and ecologically positive council by 2030.
5.4 Future Wales, the National Plan 2040 forms part of the adopted development plan for the County.
5.5 Future Wales Policy 17 sets out strong support to the principle of developing renewable and low carbon
energy from all technologies and at all scales to meet our future energy needs. It states that, in determining
planning applications for renewable and low carbon energy development, decision-makers must give
significant weight to the need to meet Wales’ international commitments and the Welsh Government target
to generate 70% of consumed electricity by renewable means by 2030 in order to combat the climate
emergency.
5.6 Future Wales Policy 18 states proposals for renewable and low carbon energy projects (including
repowering) qualifying as Developments of National Significance will be permitted, subject to compliance
with the policy criteria.
5.7 The proposal would give rise to adverse impacts on the local area, which will be set out in the Local Impact
Report. However, in Officers view, the strategic benefits of the scheme in terms of increased renewable
energy generation and the contribution it would make to de-carbonise the energy supply network and to
combat the climate emergency, would outweigh the adverse impacts identified.
5.8 Officers would therefore propose the Council submit representations to raise no objection to the proposal,
subject to the conditions to be set out in the Local Impact Report being imposed to ensure localised impacts
are mitigated or minimised.
6. RESOLUTION
6.1 Members are requested to consider the following resolutions:


Delegate approval of the final Local Impact Report to Officers, in consultation with the affected
Ward Councillors.



Submit representations to the Planning Inspectorate to raise no objection to the proposed Elwy
Solar Energy Farm, subject to the imposition of conditions set out in the Local Impact Report.

EMLYN JONES

HEAD OF PLANNING, PUBLIC PROTECTION AND COUNTYSIDE SERVICE

3

Page 11

Attachments:
Elwy solar energy farm – site location plan
Elwy solar energy farm – proposed site layout plan
Appendix 1 – draft Local Impact Report

Page 12

4

eg

k

Tra

ac

ck

Tr

-g
as

Pond

Pond

Er

w'r

7.0m
Track

Track

Pe

ntr
e

-is

af

16.0m

y

)

m
(u

th

Pa

Aber

Elw

er

y/

Aber Bothy

Pond

Riv

lw
nE

in

Dra

o

Af
Drain

7.9m
Track

Little Pengwern

ck

Tra

Tr
k
ac
Tra

Pond

ck

WB

Glyn Derw Farm
Path
(um)

16.0m

Llys Menyn

Pentre Uchaf Farm

7.4m
Pentre-uchaf

th
Pa
)

m

(u

FB

ck

Tra

Footbridge

Blairmore
Nurseries

in
Dra

A 525

Woodhaven

Track

Issues

8.0m

Pond
Cycle Wa

Pond

y

Track

A 525
Path (um)

Oakwood

Coed T-mawr

Dol Afon

ST ASAPH ROAD

10.8m
Pond

Allotment Gardens

Tra

ck

Pond

8.6m
Pa

in

m)

Dra

th (u

Ro Sion Philip

ED
y

Bd

ain
Dr

The Retreat

m

2
1.2

Und

RH

Def

Afo

The Woodlands

/R
lwy

RH

iver

2m
1.2

The Anchorage

k
ac

Tr

nE

FF

y
Elw
CR

Path (um

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

9.4m

)

Dra

CR

Cycle Way

Tra

ck

in

Ty-mawr
9.7m
Dra
in

ED

Bd

y

10.1m
FB
Pond

THE ROE

Path

(um

)

ck
Tra

Trac

k

Pond

Silo

Pond
1.22m RH

Tyddyn Isaf

Und

FF

CG

A5

Drain

2

11

Lodge

Plas Coch
(Nursing Home)

1.22m

Ponds

5

4

Spring Gardens
Holiday Park
(Caravan Site)

14

Dovecote

Pen Y Bryn Farm

Spring Gardens

Gwernigron Farmhouse

Gwernigron

9

Drain

CR

Drain

ED

6

Bdy

10.3m

18.3m

Bryn George

Wern Bach

10.3m
Gors-isaf

Issues

14.4m

Sewage Works
Cae Dorlan

25
A5

Cattle Grid
Gors Mill Cottage

28

El
Sub Sta

A5
5

Felin y Gors Mill

31

27

36

26

37

Bryn Clwyd

41
24

39

Cattle Grid

44
38

Drain

1

46

Dolhyfryd
23

Roe Parc

Prince's Gorse
49

Parkfield
3

th
Pa

55

)

m

(u

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

17

Y
RD
LA
TA
RK
RC
Y PA
PA
LARD
/ TA

8

4

7

E

Pond

56

50

RO

13

16

Tr

61

WA

6

LD

/O

elte

AU

ALI

Sh

ac
k

LLS

r

NW
HE

Tk

20.3m

E
TH

Tudor Lodge

C

The Talardy

14

7

LB

27

A5
25

1
2

Pond

Faenol-bropor

18

SM

FB

Def

De
f

Pond

Silo

ED

Bd

y

Drain

Und

De

f

A 55

Pond

Pond

Cattle
Market
Chuavon

A 55

Sta

lwy
sE
Pla otel
H

Green Gates
Farm

Garage

hard
Orc use
Ho lwy
sE
Pla hard
Orc

12.5m

Millstream Cottage

Lay-by

tion

)

12.7m

H

Gaerwen

60

por

ck
Tra

ck
Tra

y

12

6

13

ARC

1

Wilcox

Winefride
Cottage

6

KEENS ROA
D
1

CAE

Pond

11

W

Pond

EF
IN

2
1

12

YP
19

LON

-BRYN
TAN-Y
15

20

9

5

d
nnyd t
Gle
urs
dh
Lyn
rwin
Do
e
Th let
a
Ch
nt
una
De
fa
ian
Eir

6

E

RID

1

22

1

Track

2
97

HEOL

ESGO

B

Elwy

1

Cottag

2

54

Ch

6

Cynlas

1

15

Mer

T
llyn

Sh

72

Y

/C
W

MO
R
LIA
M

TT

IR

RT

AS
H

LY

W

C

WIL
DD
OR
FF

19

80

83

58
64

32

48
54
46

50
56

42

44

38

34
40

N'S

1

15

2
11

51

SINE

49

VISION
BU

36

ing 6

47

NEW

Build

16

HEOL AFON

2

61

SS PA
RK

101

k
Trac

26

35

CT

16

k

37
21

y
ED Bd

38.0m

y
Bd
ED

4

26

40.2m
GLASCOED

Upway

ows

April
Cottage

1

1

B

Hendre

CS

Works

Dyffrynaur

18.5m

Cae Haf

12

22

El
Sub
Sta

19

El Sub Sta

S

IE

Haul

Works

6

V
DA

RD

Track

Cae yr

HA

RIC

Aber
Elwy

Hafryn

Issues

20

FFORDD

d
fry
lhy
fon
da
Bo

Do

Homelea

Tk

10

81
53

Plas-yn-roe

Lark
Rise

5

16

Hillcrest

Delemere

Pond

Parc Coffa ac Amlosgfa /
Memorial Park & Crematorium

16.2m

AN

13

Lark Rise
Rosehill
House

Gilwern
Bryn Esgob

Pond

Pond

9

EN ARI

B 5381

Rose Hill
Nurseries

ROAD

14

28

36.0m
Four
Winds

-FEDW

1

ROMAN ROA
D

Sandiacre

35.9m

CG

(Football Pitch)

g

Elwy Dale

Derwendeg

FS

Woodbury

Gas Valve House

FB

2

MAES-Y

The Mead

El Sub Sta

15

Ps

7

Tyddyn Garre

Wayside

Un
d

1

Southcroft

Vermont

Llys y Wennol

Def

1

31.0m

22

34

81

95

Cottage Villa

1.22m RH

2

Drain

43.6m

B 5381

Drain

6

B 5381

Def

13

7

B 5381

1

1

The Cottage

34.1m

Und
Def

Gas Valve House

WY

LB

37.3m

ED Bdy

(PH)
The
Oaks

EL

Def
GLASCOED ROAD

ESS

1.22m RH

20

Play
Area

Sports Or
Exercise
Facility

N
WY

BRO HAVARD

25

LL

FFORDD NEWYDD

Y Bwythyn

Drain

FB

1

New Inn

ra
in

ROMAN ROAD

Ruby Terrace

2

4

12

The Bungalow

39.7m

1.22m RH

Coach House

Glencoe

D

Def

Glasdir

2

Rosehill
Bungalow

Pen y Bryn

Garreg-Wen

1.22m RH

Cottages
Poplar

22

37

Caer Delyn

Cattle
Grid

Alpha
Cott

42

1

Llys yr Afon

32

ing 5

LOWER DENBIGH ROAD

Works

Morfa
Court
Bro Elwy

Spring Cott

36

4

Build

Issues

8

Bryn Rhosyn
Pond

34

ing 4

Hafren

PW

Dunromin

46

5

Ponds

14

Build

50

54
26

41

ing 3

CLWYD

16

2

El
Sub Sta

94

Build

15

5

LB

HEOL

Fairfield

52

88

URT
89

Melbourne
House
Glenhurst

53

3

11
12

IS TERFYN

9

EN CO

g2

31
32

3

The
Beeches

54

BOW

ildin

YS

1

1
2

Gwynfa Terrace

L

7
8

5
6

Garage

PENRHEW

Terrace

1

47

EN /

Bu

ND PR

Caradog

LLWYN ELWY

BOW

El Sub Sta
EDMU

17

CWRT

82

LLYS

33

Ty Ni

23

West View

STANLEY PARK

Cwttir

El Sub Sta

ing 7

El
Sub
Sta

1

2

Cartrefle

Ingle
Nook

1

44b

BRO HAVARD

44a

45

1

5

in
Dra

71

71

47

43

PEN RHEWL

13

46

17

14

Se
Pp wag
gS e
ta

31

28

72
42

Penrhewl
Villa P

18

10

102

WALK

7

36

Tegfan

El Sub Sta

35b

Telephone
Exchange

DEA

30

52

6

70

15.4m

28

60

Building 1

35a

St Asaph
Bridge

B 5381

81

62
68
66

Build

A525

HEOL ESGOB

Ponds

Ponds

Shelters

1

nn
en

The Old Deanery

Timber
Yard

El Sub Sta

Ponds

O

1a

23

Pond

War
Meml

s

Pen-y-bryn Helsby

Pond

Pavilion
18.1m

Lly

Bryn Coed

Pond

Bowling Green

3

8

4

Pond

53

AS
HL
Y

1

GA
N

55

87

E

N

LA

Gas
Governor
Hydrant

St Asaph Business Park

RT

12

El Sub Sta

W

73

r

El Sub Sta

49

/C

12

elte
Sh

T

Ponds

14

31

CO

49

57

HL

(um)

93

RT

AS

28

Path

ASHLY C
OU

71

UR

Ponds

43

32

Carlton Court

Pond

33

r
elte

32a

2

9

The
Coach
House

nt e)
-bo ntr
n-y Ce
Pe alth
(He

4

38

14

Playground

1

46
68

Pond

Y Comin /
The Common

h
alt
He ntre
Ce

ce
erra

El Sub Sta
LB

rth

fan

14.0m

dda
Rhon

1

Ponds

Elwy
Terrace

Ha

Garage

Orana

PO

61

2

15

wo

ats

es

las

eG

Ca

8

Ponds

th

/ LLANELWY

1

ED Bd

C DH

18

Gelli
Sant

fa

dan

Did

12

Pa

ST ASAPH

nklin

Fra

le Terr

8

Cy
cle

The
Grange
d
Hafo

Silverda

Plough Hotel

LB

6

ES

TCB

ET

CR

ea

6
3

11
8

1
4

OE

Ar

ED Bdy

r

ER

7

y

elte

Y
ELW

Pond

Bod
Elwy
Min
Y Ddol
Maes
Yr Haf

Pla

TH

Sh

7

RL
SIA

Pen-y-bryn Boderw

CR

DD
Bodafon
Cae'r
Ysgol

10
7

STRE

OR

Pond

Police HQ

13.1m

2
5

12
9

Rhyd
Elwy

dr

Ara

yn yr
Bwth

17

1

MILL

20

15
13

FF

22

32

Track

19

23

Liby

-Felin

Th

22
24
21

Fire
Station

16
14

se

lo
eC

Pentre'r
Efail

27

n
n In
wa
eS )
Th (PH
don
ren
Cla

Llys-y

29

ob
sg
lE n
go
a
Ys org
M

25

Footbridge

se
ou

dH

Ellw

32

VIES

Pond

28

Ho
nd

oo

18

CHAR
D DA

26

sla

n
ee

17

44

DD RI

Haulwen

Melin
Berllan

29

e
est
om

Qu

FFOR

Bryn
Afon

Riverside

33

ad

31

p

Gra

29

Penrhos

Gallo

fa
ian

Bod Haulog

Plas Capten

n

afo

6

enol-bro

p
Coed Seler

Coed Fa

THE ROE
Min

Gallo

31

Drain

Centre

1

54

El Sub Sta

e HQ
Fire Servic

St. Asaph Cricket Club

Business

Hanover
House

2

1

Hanover House

/ Afon

5

The Stables

Pine
Lodge

33

mu
nica

N

27

com

LA

Elwy

ele

GLAS

River

El Sub Sta

PANT

in

st (t

Dra

Ma

y

W

ER

5

Cwrt Alder /
Alder Court

Elw

2

2

e

Plas Cwttir

Elwy

Ro

12

Posts
26.7m

1

Posts

Slurry Bed
Crud y Dderwen

Alder House

Path (um)

25

The Boderw
Hotel

The
Coach House

ub

El S

A5

Track

Ppg Sta

Cycle Path

Gas Gov

SM

Ty'n-ddol

Silo
Pond

Tank

8
7

CGs

Def

Slurry Bed

Silos

Plas
yr Esgob

Silo

RH

Fron Las

Pen-y-clink

FF
Waen
Meredydd

Tyn-y-caeau

Pond

Track

Glanelwy

17.1m

RH

Pond

Well
Pond

(um

)

LON
CO

ED ES

33.4m

Cornel

Pa

th

GOB

Issues

Electricity Distribution Site
52.4m
Tank
Cornel
Bach

in

d

Un

FB

Ponds

ED Bdy
RH

f

Drain
FF

GP

y
Bd

El Sub Sta

ED

Pond

De

Pond

Pond

CD

RH

Dra
Issues

Pond

CS

Pond

61.0m

Tra
ck

Ppg Sta

Und

Ponds

RH

d

Ponds
Un

Pond

ck

Pond

41.4m
RH

Tra
Coed yr Esgob

Pond

nd

5

y

Coed Cord

G

Pond

or
s

e

1 to

Pentre-mawr

Issues

Square Covert

Pond
RH

73.0m

Coed Esgob
Pond
Pond

Tra

Tr
ac

k

ck

RH

Y Bwthyn

CS

He

Ysguboriau

Pentre Bach

El Sub Sta

Goedfron
Pond

Pond
Pond

ck
Tra

Coed y Saeson

Ponds

Sinks
Pond

Pond

Tr

ac

k

f
De

Issues
Pond

0
0

500m
250m

Page 13

This page is intentionally left blank

Track

Pond

7.0m

tre-

isaf

Track

Pen

Er

w'

r-g

as

eg

Track

ck

Tra
ck

Tra

16.0m

)
Pa

Aber

th

wy

Af

on

ve
/ Ri

El

Drain

h

t
Pa

Track

Tra

Aber

ck
Tra
ck

WB

Glyn Derw Farm
Path

Llys Menyn

rE
ive

wy

l
nE

/R

o

Af

7.4m

Drain

FB

ck
Tra

y

lw

m

(u

Aber Bothy

(um)

16.0m

)

wy

r El

(um

Aber Bothy

7.9m

Little Pengwern

Footbridge

Blairmore
Nurseries
A 525

Woodhaven

7.9m
Issues

8.0m

Track

Pond
Cycle Way

Pond

Track

A 525

Oakwood

ac

Tr

Coed T-mawr

k

Dol Afon

ST ASAPH ROAD

10.8m
Pond

WB

Allotment Gardens

Glyn Derw Farm

Trac

k

Pond

8.6m
h (um

Pat
)

in

Dra

ED
Bdy

ain

Dr

Und

RH

Def

Afo

RH

1.2

er Elw

(um)

Riv

16.0m

y/
n Elw

FF

2m

Path

2m

1.2

The Woodlands

The Anchorage

CR

Path (um)

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

y

Llys Menyn
9.4m

Dra

CR

Cycle Way

Tra

ck

in

9.7m

y

Dra

Bd

in

ED

10.1m
FB
Pond

k

Trac

(um)

7.4m

Path

THE ROE

Trac

k

Pond

Silo

Pond
1.22m RH

FF

Tyddyn Isaf

Drain

2

4

Und

Plas Coch
(Nursing Home)

1.22m

Ponds

Spring Gardens
Holiday Park
(Caravan Site)

14

11

Dovecote

Spring Gardens

Gwernigron Farmhouse

Gwernigron

9

Drain

CR
Drain

ED

6

10.3m

Bdy

18.3m

Wern Bach

10.3m

14.4m

A 525

Cattle Grid

28

El
Sub Sta

A55

31

27

36

26

37
41

39
24

44

Cattle Grid

46

1

Drain

38

Dolhyfryd

Parkfield

FB

23

Roe Parc

Prince's Gorse
49
3

55

4

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

56

50

E

RO

Pond
7

RDY
TALA
PARK
DY
PARC
/ TALAR

Tr

LS
WAL

61

WAL

13

C

Tk

HEN

/ OLD

6

IAU

lter
She

ac
k

8

17

20.3m

THE

Tudor Lodge

The Talardy

14

7

LB

A 52
5

1
2

Pond

ck

Faenol-bropor

Tra

Def

Def

ED
De

f

A 55

Pond

A 525

A 55
Gas Gov

Footbridge

Blairmore
Nurseries

Bdy

Drain

Und

FB

SM

A 525

Track

Ppg Sta

The Boderw
Hotel

The
Coach House

Green Gates
Farm

Sub

El

Sta

Plas

Garage

y
Elw
el

Hot

ard
Orch se
Hou
Elwy
Plas ard
Orch

12.5m

Lay-by

LAN

2

in

PANT

Dra

com

5

The Stables

Hanover
House

2

1
33

mun
icati
on)

1

Gallo
p

Woodhaven

Bod Haulog
Plas Capten

Coed Seler

29

12.7m
31

Gaerwen

Penrhos

Gal

lop

44

DD RICHA
RD DAVIE

17

Coed Faenol

El Sub Sta

31

-bropor

60

54

32

Tra
ck

Drain

Pine
Lodge

ERW

GLAS

y

El Sub Sta

HQ
Fire Service

FFOR

Elw

Plas Cwttir

5

t (tele

2

Roe

12

Posts
26.7m

Mas

1

Posts

Slurry Bed
Crud y Dderwen

Alder House

Cwrt Alder /
Alder Court

b
go
l Es n
go
rga
Mo

29

Trac

k

S

se

The

Pentre'r
Efail

Ys

FFO

22

Clo

1

12

C DH

ELWY

RL

ED Bdy

7

D SIA

RD

32

Track

6

C
19

9

IDE

6
1

11

5

KEENS ROAD

NE

6

2

1

CAE

Winefride
Cottage

22

WI

LON

18

FR

1

Pond
Pond

1

BRYN
20

Y PAR

8

Maes
Yr Haf
Gelli
Sant

15

Pond

Ar

ea

Cae'r
Ysgol

Min Elwy
Y Ddol

12

TAN-Y-

Bod

13

ay

Bodafon

Pen-y-bryn Boderw

7

Pl

Pond

Police HQ

1

Track

2
97

HEOL

ESGOB

Elwy

s
e Gla

Ca

54

2

8

Ponds

1

Cottages

PO

61

152

dda
Rhon

6

Cynlas

151

El Sub Sta

1

Ponds

LB

68

38
32a

2

57

33

43

32

149

93

RT

71

AS

28

HL

Y

CO

N
RGA

55

MO

NE

IR

LIAM
WIL

Y

Pen-y-bryn Helsby
19

Pond

Timber
Yard

Pond

HEOL ESGOB
81

80

70

23

83

62
68
60
66

El Sub Sta

58
64

32

48
54
46

50
56

42

44

28

Gas
Governor
Hydrant

St Asaph Business Park

38
30
36

34
40

52

72

Ponds
4

15
26

1

k
Trac

16

C Tk

Works
22

37

Bdy

2

Rosehill
Bungalow

Pen y Bryn

ED

Issues

16

49

36

14

41

ing 5

8

Bryn Rhosyn
Pond
4

Build

26

47

T

88

2

NEW

Build

VISION

ing 6

HEOL CLWYD

ay

ng

Build
ing 4

HEOL AFON

5
11

PARK

LB

9

ildi

N COUR

Bu

ing 3

Caer Delyn

4

1

12

Y Bwythyn

BRO HAVARD

ain

ESS
The Cottage

1

ROMAN

Drain

40.2m

ED

4

26

Bd

y

Four
Winds

ROAD

ARIAN

Lark Rise

Upway

CS

Hillcrest

1

Plas-yn-roe

Lark
Rise

Dyffrynaur
18.5m

Cae Haf

12

5

Delemere

A 525

16

2

April
Cottage

Gilwern
Bryn Esgob

Homelea

Pond

Hafryn

Issues

22

Tk

El
Sub
Sta

El Sub Sta

19

20

10

S

Cae yr

VIE

Haul
6

DA

Works

Track

Parc Coffa ac Amlosgfa /
Memorial Park & Crematorium

EDWEN

13

B 5381

Rose Hill
Nurseries

ROAD

14

GLASCOED

Pond

Pond

9

Rosehill
House

1

28

MAES-Y-F

36.0m

2

FS
15

38.0m

7

Elwy Dale

35.9m

CG

Woodbury

Southcroft

Llys y Wennol

Def

1

31.0m

The Meadows

Cottage Villa

1.22m RH

Derwendeg

Sandiacre

B 5381

Def

Gas Valve House

Vermont

34.1m

Und
Def

Gas Valve House

El Sub Sta

Tyddyn Garreg

LB

37.3m

ED Bdy

Wayside

Und

GLASCOED ROAD
Drain

Sports Or
Exercise
Facility

25

The Bungalow
1.22m RH

Def

ROMAN ROAD

20

Play
Area

Dr

Garreg-Wen
Cattle
Grid

39.7m

1.22m RH

Drain 43.6m

Pond

5

16

Ponds

94

Build

Nook

3

5

89

32

1

2

El
Sub Sta

95

82

D PRYS

31

102

N / BOWE
BOWE

El Sub Sta
EDMUN

33

101

CWRT

Ponds
LLYS

El Sub Sta

1

Build
ing 7

BUSIN
ESS

81

34

Cwttir

35b

2

Dra

71

71

Se
Pp wa
g ge
Sta

in

43

45

44b

61

STANLEY PARK

Building 1

Cycle W

44a

17

1

BRO HAVARD

PEN RHEWL

El Sub Sta

Pond

Penrhewl
Villa P

42

46

47

31

18

10

Pond

Ponds

35a

8.0m

AS

HL

FFO
RDD

El Sub Sta

LA

TT
CW

12

Ponds

/ CW
RT

87

Bryn Coed

12

73

El Sub Sta

Ponds

14

31

UR

T

Pond

Issues

ASHLY COU

72

Pond

Carlton Court

ARD
FFORDD RICH

Silo
Pond

Tank

8

Oakwood

7

CGs

Slurry Bed

Def

Plas
yr Esgob
RH

Pen-y-clink

FF
Waen
Meredydd

Tyn-y-caeau

Track
RH

Pond

LON

COED

Pond
ESGO
B

33.4m
Transformer

Issues

Transformer

HV Switchgear

Electricity Distribution Site
52.4m
Tank

in
d

ED Bdy

Un

FB

Ponds

RH
Transformer

Pond

Pond

HV Switchgear

RH

Dra

Issues

Pond

El Sub Sta

Transformer

Pond

CS

Pond

Und

k

Trac

Ponds
Und

Pond

RH

k

Pond

41.4m
RH

Trac

Coed yr Esgob

Pond

Dol Afon
r
rme
nsfo

Tra
r
rme

ear

nsfo

tchg

Tra

Swi
HV

ST ASAPH ROAD

r
rme
nsfo

Tra
r
rme

ear

nsfo

tchg

Tra

Swi

Transforme
r

HV Switchgear

Transforme
r

HV

10.8m
Pond

Pond

8.6m
Pa
(
th
)

ain

um

Dr

ED
y

n

ai

Bd

Dr
Transformer

Transformer

Transformer

HV Switchgear

Transformer

HV Switchgear

m

2
1.2

The Woodlands

Und

RH

Def

FF
Transformer

Transformer

HV Switchgear

H

mR

2
1.2

The Anchorage
ormer
Transf
ormer
Transf
gear
HV

Switch

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

9.4m

Dr

Transformer

Transformer

Transformer

Tran

mer

HV Switchgear

sform
er
sform

Transfor

er

mer

Tran

HV

Switc
hgea

ar

HV Switchgear

Transfor

Transformer

Switchge

Transformer

HV Switchgear

HV

Transformer

Cycle Way

ain

r

Transformer

Transformer

HV Switchgear

CR

Wheel
Wash

TEMPORARY COMPOUND

Gate for OFTO
owner's access

9.7m

y

Dra
in

ED

Bd

10.1m
FB
Pond
c
Tra
r

THE ROE

Path

er
Transform

HV Switchgea

Transform

er

(um
)

k

Trac

k

Pond

FF

1.22m RH

2

Plas Coch
(Nursing Home)

1.22m

Ponds
4

Und

14

11

Dovecote
Gwernigron Farmhouse

Gwernigron

9

Drain

CR

Drain

ED

6

10.3m

Bdy

12.276

Wern Bach

HV

10.3m
gear

Transf

Switch

ormer

e
St
or

e
St
or

y

e
St
or

at

Sk

ips/

OF
DIN FLO
AR G A
EA

W

as

te

y

St
or

e

or

Can
op

er

St
or

e

Gen

Can
op

e
St
or

Te
ar mp
ph ea ( ora
as co ry
e ns pa
on tru rk
ly) ct ing
ion

14.4m

EV
ch
ar
ging

Gra
ar de

ou
'sc nd 1 su
rfa
al
wa ping this
ce
ste) s' area al
l
(old
pl
tarm us
ac

Can
Offi te
en
Can ce
1/
Offi te
ce en 2
/

To

ile

Dry
Dry ing
ing Roo
Roo m
m /
t

ormer

Transf

Te
(c mpo
on onst rary
ly) ru
ctio pa
n rkin
ph g
as area
e

Ar

ea

Re

fuel
lin

g

A5

HV Switchgear

El
Sub Sta

25

Transformer

Transformer

31
Transformer

Transformer

Whee
l
Wash

HV Switchgear

36

TEMPORARY COMPOUND

37
41

Tran
sfor
mer
Tran
sfor
mer
HV
Swi

tchg
ear

39

38

Drain

1

46

Dolhyfryd

Roe Par
er
Tran
er

Switc

sform

HV

3

Tran

49

Parkfield

hgea
r

sform

Prince's Gorse

TH

DY
AR
TAL
RK
RC
PA
PA
DY
LAR
A
T
/

8

L

WA

6

Tr

61

r

Tk

S

ALL

DW

OL

elte

N
HE

/
IAU

Sh

ac
k

7

E

Pond

4

RO

NANT-Y-FAENOL ROAD

50

E

Tudor Lodge

r
hgea
HV

Switc

er
sform
Tran
er
sform
Tran

C

The Talardy

7

LB

A5

HV

ear
Switchg

25

rmer
Transfo

1

rmer
Transfo

2

Pond
rmer

Transfo

HV

rmer

ear

Switchg

Transfo

Und
gear

Switch

ormer

HV

Transf

r

ormer

Transf

iner

y conta
Batter

forme

Trans
combiner
AC

PCS
l
6 Pane
HV hgear
Switc

iner

y conta

r

forme

Batter

Trans

combiner
AC

De
f

r

forme

r

PCS

forme

combiner
AC

Trans

PCS
PCS

PCS

iner

iner

l
6 Pane
HV hgear
Switc

r

y conta

y conta
Batter

forme

Batter

Trans

y

combiner
AC

iner

y conta

r

forme

PCS

Trans

r

forme

PCS

Trans

PCS
iner

PCS

PCS

iner

y conta
Batter

r

forme

PCS

PCS
iner

PCS

y conta
Batter

PCS

iner

y conta

Trans

combiner
AC

Batter

combiner
AC

PCS

PCS
y conta

iner

Trans

y conta

r

forme

Batter

combiner
AC

Trans

iner

r

y conta

r

Batter

PCS

Trans

PCS

PCS

PCS

iner

y conta

l

PCS

6 Pane
HV hgear
Switc

iner

y conta

r

Batter

forme

Batter
combiner
AC

Trans

iner

iner

y conta

r

y conta

forme

r

PCS

r

forme

PCS
PCS
iner

PCS

y conta
Batter

PCS

combiner
AC

r

combiner
AC

Pond

iner

y conta
Batter

iner

y conta

r

forme

r

forme

Batter

Trans

combiner
AC

Trans

combiner
AC

PCS

Trans

PCS

PCS

forme

Trans

PCS

Trans

r

PCS

PCS
l
6 Pane
HV hgear
Switc

iner

y conta
Batter

PCS

forme

combiner
AC

combiner
AC

PCS
PCS

Batter

Trans

PCS

forme

Trans

PCS
PCS

PCS

combiner
AC

Batter

PCS

Trans

PCS

PCS

PCS

f

A 55

PCS

combiner
AC

iner

y conta
Batter

forme

PCS

forme

combiner
AC

PCS

PCS

De

Trans

combiner
AC

r

forme

PCS
PCS
PCS

l
6 Pane
HV hgear
Switc

PCS

r

forme

Batter
combiner
AC

ED

r

forme

Batter

Trans

combiner
AC

PCS
PCS

combiner
AC

Bd

PCS

PCS

PCS

PCS
PCS

PCS

Trans

combiner
AC

Def

PCS
PCS

iner

y conta
Batter

r

PCS

forme

PCS

PCS
iner

PCS

y conta
Batter

PCS

combiner
AC

PCS

Trans

PCS

PCS
iner

y conta
Batter
iner

y conta

r

forme

Batter
combiner
AC

Trans

r

forme

combiner
AC

PCS
PCS
PCS

Trans

PCS

PCS

PCS
iner

y conta
Batter

A 55

SM

Ppg Sta

The Boderw
Hotel

The
Coach House

Green Gates
Farm

Garage
Lay-by

Slurry Bed

Posts

12

Posts
26.7m

Plas Cwttir

2
5

W
ER

LAS

Dra

in

G
PANT

The Stables

5

1

2

33

1

54

El Sub Sta

Gall
op
31

Plas Capten

29

Coed Seler
31

Gall

Penrhos

op

17

44

Tra

ck

32

ol
sg

Y

Transformer

Transformer

HV Switchgear

0

250m

Page 15

ob

g
Es

N

LA

This page is intentionally left blank

PLANNING, PUBLIC
PROTECTION & COUNTRYSIDE SERVICES

ELWY SOLAR ENERGY FARM
DNS APPLICATION
LOCAL IMPACT REPORT

Page 17

Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended) (‘The 1990 Act’)
The Developments of National Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016 (as amended)
(‘The DNS Regulations’)
The Developments of National Significance (Procedure) (Wales) Order 2016 (as
amended) (‘The DNS Procedure Order’)
Planning Inspectorate Reference: DNS/3247619
Local Planning Authority Reference: 40/2021/0655
Applicant: Chris Banks (Solar Century Holdings Ltd)
Site address: Land at Gwernigron Farm, The Roe, St. Asaph, Denbighshire.
Proposal: Application for permission for a Development of National Significance
(Wales) Section 62D for the contruction of a solar farm and energy store hybrid park,
together with all associated works, equipment and neccessary infrastructure

Page 18

CONTENTS
TBC XXXXX

Page 19

PART A: BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT
1.

INTRODUCTION

1.1

An application for a Solar Park at land at Gwernigron Farm, The Roe, St. Asaph with
an export capacity of 62MW was originally submitted to Welsh Ministers by Solar
Century Holdings Ltd on the 22nd March 2020 for consideration under the
Developments of National Significance (Wales) Regulations 2016 (hereto referred to
as the Elwy Solar Energy Farm). The original application was not considered valid,
and a revised application was submitted on 11 April 2021. The revised application
was deemed valid on 22 June 2021.

1.2

The report below is an assessment of the likely local impacts from the perspective of
Denbighshire County Council as the Local Planning Authority (LPA).

2.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOSITE AND SURROUNDINGS

2.1

The 156 hectare site is located on land to the north-west of the city of St. Asaph, and
is approximately 2km to the east of the town of Bodelwyddan and approximately
2.5km to the south-east of the town of Rhuddlan. The Bodelwyddan Key Strategic
Site, which the Denbighshire Local Development Plan has allocated for mixed use
development, lies immediately to the east, and lies between the application site and
Bodelwyddan settlement.

2.2

The site for the solar energy farm comprises agricultural land to the north of the A55,
with the A525 running along the eastern boundary, and there are existing trees and
hedgerow along the site boundary and within the site.

2.3

There is a cluster of dwellings at Gwernigron Farm within the centre of the site and a
further dwelling (The Coach Home) and care home (Plas Coch) in the eastern
section of the site, which are excluded from, but surrounded by, the red line
boundary. The Talardy hotel and three residential dwellings (Tudor Lodge, Parkfield,
and Dolhyfryd) are adjacent to the south-eastern site boundary. There are two further
dwellings to the north-east, which are close to the site boundary (Blaremore House
and Glyn Derw Farm).

2.4

The grid connection corridor crosses through the St Asaph Business Park to the
south of the A55, and would then connect to the existing National Grid Bodelwyddan
Substation which lies to the south of B5381 Glascoed Road.

2.5

The application site lies outside of any development boundary defined by the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (LDP) and is within a designated Mineral
Safeguarding Area (sand and gravel). The site is therefore considered to be in open
countryside. The grid connection corridor crosses through the St Asaph Business
Park; the business park does not benefit from a development boundary, however
land has been allocated for employment use in the LDP. A plan showing the LDP
allocations and accompanying plan legend at attached as APPENDIX 1 and 2
respectively.

2.6

The site is also situated within a C1 flood risk area as defined by TAN15 and
according to Welsh Government’s agricultural land classification system it is
considered to be a mix of Grade 3a and Grade 3b land, with Grade 3a land being
considered the Best and Most Versatile agricultural land.

2.7

There listed buildings on the immediate periphery of the development site, including:



Grade II Listed Gwernigron Farmhouse



Grade II* Listed Gwernigron Dovecote

Page 20



Grade II Listed Talardy Hotel



Grade II Listed Greenhouse at Talardy Hotel



Grade II Listed Walled Garden at Talardy Hotel



Grade II Listed Plas Coch Rest Home (main block only).

2.8

There are further listed buildings and structures within close proximity to the site,
including Grade II* Bodelwyddan Castle to the south-east and Grade II* Church of St
Margaret (the Marble Church) to the east.

2.9

There are Scheduled Ancient Monuments within the vicinity of the site, including:


First World War Practice Trenches at Bodelwyddan Park to the south-west;



Rhuddlan Castle to the north-east (also Grade I Listed)



Part of Site of Norman Borough to the north-east



Rhuddlan town banks to the north-east



Twthill (Motte & Bailey) to the north-east



Rhuddlan Bridge to the north-east.

2.10

There are designated Conservation Areas in St. Asaph, Bodelwyddan and Rhuddlan
and the Bodelwyddan Castle Historic Park and Garden lies to the south-west.

2.11

A plan showing the location of built heritage assets in the vicinity of the site is
attached as APPENDIX 3.

2.12

There are no statutory of non-statutory wildlife designations within the site boundary,
however a designated local wildlife sites in the vicinity of the site, including:


Clwyd Estuary and adjacent fields local wildlife site to the north and northeast.



Afon Clwyd and flood plain local wildlife site to the east



Coed Cord, block to NW and Coed y Saeson (3 areas) local wildlife site and
ancient semi-natural woodland to the south of the St Asaph business park.

2.13

A plan showing the location of the local wildlife sites is attached as APPENDIX 4.

2.14

The development area is traversed by public rights of way. A plan showing the
location of public rights of way is attached as APPENDIX 5.

2.15

There is existing energy infrastructure within the locale of the site. The National Grid
Bodelwyddan Substation which the solar energy farm proposes to connect to is
adjacent to two further substations which serve the respective Gwynt y Mor and
Burbo Bank Extension offshore windfarms. The offshore windfarms are connected to
their respective substations via high voltage underground export cables which extend
from landfall locations at Rhyl / Prestatyn, and which may cross through the
development area. There is also a Scottish Power Distribution Network Substation
and a flexible gas fired power station located on land close to the St. Asaph Business
Park. There are also high voltage overhead pylons and electricity lines within the
vicinity of the site which connect to the respective National Grid and Scottish Power
substations. A plan showing the location of electricity infrastructure relative to the
development area is attached as APPENDIX 6.

Page 21

3.

DESCRIPTION OF THE PROPOSED DEVELOPMENT

3.1

The development proposals comprise the Elwy Solar Energy Farm. The main
element of the proposal is the installation of a ground mounted solar farm to achieve
a generating capacity of approximately 62MW. The electrical connection
infrastructure also forms part of this planning application.

3.2

The solar energy farm would comprise of the following elements:


Photovoltaic (PV) arrays (fixed panels);



25 Substations (40ft) positioned around the site;



Customer Switchgear building;



Battery Storage Compound;



Boundary fencing;



A CCTV system on c.3m poles, located at strategic points around the site;



Associated access tracks, including a permanent access track and temporary
construction only access track;



The main site access will be into the south-eastern boundary of the site from
St Asaph Road (A525). An additional access has been proposed into the
eastern site boundary, this access is intended for use during the construction
phase only. Some widening works are required at these entrances to allow
safe access for construction vehicles;



Storage container(s) for spare parts etc.;



Relevant communications and monitoring equipment located in/ on the other
structures of the development listed above;



Underground cable connecting the site with the electricity grid at the
Bodelwyddan National Grid substation.

4.

RELEVANT PLANNING HISTORY

4.1

There is no relevant planning history pertaining to energy generation within the
application site.

PART B: RELEVANT PLANNING POLICIES AND GUIDANCE
5.

NATIONAL PLANNING POLICY AND LEGISLIATION

5.1

The Council considers the following UK and Welsh Government policy and legislation
are relevant:

5.2

Legislation

5.3



The Environment (Wales) Act 2016



The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Amendment of 2050 Emissions Target)
Regulations 2021 which set an amended target of reducing carbon emissions in
Wales to net zero by 2050.

Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11)


Chapter 3 – Strategic and Spatial Choices. In particular section 3.58-3.59
inclusive which relates to the best and most versatile agricultural land and
section 5.60 to which relates to development in the countryside and
supporting infrastructure

Page 22

5.4



Chapter 5 – Production and Enterprising Place. In particular Section 5.7 – 5.9
inclusive, which sets out the policy framework for energy and renewable
energy development and Section 5.14.7 to 5.14.9 inclusive which relates to
safeguarding mineral resources and infrastructure.



Chapter 6: Distinctive and Natural Places. In particular Section 6.1: The
Historic Environment; Chapter 6.3: Landscape; Chapter 6.4: Biodiversity and
Ecological Networks; Chapter 6.6: Water and Flood Risk; Chapter 6.7: Air
Quality and Soundscape; and Chapter 8: Lighting.

Future Wales: The National Plan 2040 forms part of the adopted development plan
for the County


Future Wales Policy 17 sets out strong support to the principle of developing
renewable and low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales to
meet our future energy needs. It states that, in determining planning
applications for renewable and low carbon energy development,
decision-makers must give significant weight to the need to meet Wales’
international commitments and the Welsh Government target to generate
70% of consumed electricity by renewable means by 2030 in order to combat
the climate emergency.



Future Wales Policy 18 states proposals for renewable and low carbon
energy projects (including repowering) qualifying as Developments of
National Significance will be permitted, subject to compliance with the policy
criteria.

5.5

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 5 - Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)

5.6

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 6 - Planning for Sustainable Rural Communities (2010)

5.7

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 11 – Noise (1997)

5.8

Technical Advice Note 9TAN) 13 - Tourism (1997)

5.9

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 15 – Development and Flood Risk (2004)

5.10

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 18 – Transport (2007)

5.11

Technical Advice Note (TAN) 23 – The Historic Environment (2017)

5.12

Welsh Government Practice Guidance: Planning Implications of Renewable Energy
and Low Carbon Energy (February 2011)

5.13

Welsh Government Practice Guidance: Planning for Renewable and Low Carbon
Energy – A Toolkit for Planners (September 2015)

6.

LOCAL PLANNING POLICY

6.1

The Denbighshire Local Development Plan (LDP) 2006 – 2021 (adopted June 4th
2013) sets out the Authority’s policies and proposals for future development and use
of land.

6.2

Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the
requirement that planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the
approved or adopted development plan for the area, unless material considerations
indicate otherwise'

6.3

Whilst the LDP should be read as a whole, the following LDP policies (in order of
appearance in the LDP) are considered relevant to the consideration of the proposed
Elwy Solar Energy Farm:

Page 23









6.4

Policy PSE 5 – Rural economy
Policy PSE 15 – Safeguarding Minerals
Policy VOE 1 – Key areas of importance
Policy VOE 2 – Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Area of Outstanding
Beauty
Policy VOE 5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy VOE6 – Water management
Policy VOE 10 – Renewable energy
Policy ASA 3 – Parking standards

LDP planning policy text:
Policy PSE 5 – Rural Economy
In order to help to sustain the rural economy, tourism and commercial development,
including agricultural diversification, will be supported throughout the County subject
to detailed criteria, which include making a significant contribution to sustainable
development and recognising the special status of the Area of Outstanding Natural
Beauty/Area of Outstanding Beauty.
Appropriate employment proposals for both conversions and new build outside of
development boundaries will be supported provided the following criteria are met:
i.

the proposal is appropriate in scale and nature to its location; and

ii.

any suitable existing buildings are converted or re-used in preference to new
build; and

iii.

proposals for new buildings are supported by an appropriate business case
which demonstrates that it will support the local economy to help sustain local
rural communities; and

iv.

within the AONB/AOB, Pontcysyllte Aqueduct and Canal World Heritage Site
(including the buffer zone) or other regionally important landscape areas, take
full account of and seek to enhance the nature and distinctive qualities of the
local landscape. In line with national policy any proposals that are considered
to be detrimental to the quality of the AONB and World Heritage Site will be
refused.

Policy PSE 15 - Safeguarding Minerals
High quality resources of minerals, including limestone, sand and gravel,
Denbigh Gritstones, igneous and volcanic deposits will be safeguarded from
development that would result in its permanent loss or hinder future extraction.
Development will only be permitted where:
i.

it can be demonstrated that the need for the development outweighs the need
to protect the mineral resource; or

ii.

where such development would not have a significant impact on the viability
of that mineral being worked; or

iii.

where the mineral is extracted prior to the development.

Policy VOE 1 – Key Areas of importance

Page 24

The following areas will be protected from development that would adversely affect
them. Development proposals should maintain and, wherever possible, enhance
these areas for their characteristics, local distinctiveness, and value to local
communities in Denbighshire:


Statutory designated sites for nature conservation;



Local areas designated or identified because of their natural landscape or
biodiversity value;



Sites of built heritage; and



Historic Landscape, Parks and Gardens.

Policy VOE 2 - Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty and Area of Outstanding Beauty
In determining development proposals within or affecting the Area of Outstanding
Natural Beauty (AONB) and Area of Outstanding Beauty (AOB), development that
would cause unacceptable harm to the character and appearance of the landscape
and the reasons for designation will not be permitted.
Policy VOE 5 – Conservation of natural resources
Development proposals that may have an impact on protected species or designated
sites of nature conservation will be required to be supported by a biodiversity
statement which must have regard to the County biodiversity aspiration for
conservation, enhancement and restoration of habitats and species.
Where the overall benefits of a development outweigh the conservation interest of a
locally protected nature site, mitigation and enhancement measures in or adjacent to
these sites should be an integral part of the scheme.
If necessary, measures required to mitigate likely adverse effects on the qualifying
features of statutory designated sites should be put in place prior to the
commencement of development. Measures required to offset any likely adverse
effects will be secured by planning conditions and/ or planning obligations.
Planning permission will not be granted for development proposals that are likely to
cause significant harm to the qualifying features of internationally and nationally
designated sites of nature conservation, priority habitats, priority species, regionally
important geodiversity sites, or to species that are under threat.
Policy VOE 6 – Water Management
All development will be required to incorporate water conservation measures, where
practicable. Major development proposals (greater than 1,000 sqm floorspace or 10
dwellings) should be accompanied by a Water Conservation Statement.
All development will be required to eliminate or reduce surface water run-off from the
site, where practicable. The run-off rates from the site should maintain or reduce predevelopment rates
Policy VOE 10 Renewable energy technologies
Development proposals which promote the provision of renewable energy
technologies may be supported providing they are located so as to minimise visual,
noise and amenity impacts and demonstrate no unacceptable impact upon the

Page 25

interests of nature conservation, wildlife, natural and cultural heritage, landscape,
public health and residential amenity. In areas that are visually sensitive, including
the AONB, Conservation Areas, World Heritage Site and Buffer Zone and in close
proximity to historic buildings, visually intrusive technologies will not be permitted
unless it can be demonstrated that there is no negative impact on the designation or
there is an overriding public need for the development.
Policy ASA 3 – Parking standards
Development proposals, including changes of use, will be expected to provide
appropriate parking spaces for cars and bicycles. If the use of a property or premises
requires parking infrastructure for mobility impaired people, these facilities will be
taken into account when determining the amount of parking space required.
Consideration will be given to the following circumstances (where they apply) in
determining parking provision:


The site is located within a high-densely populated area;



Access to and availability of public transport is secured;



Parking is available within reasonable distance of the site;



Alternative forms of transport are available in the area.

6.5

The Denbighshire LDP is available to view in its entirety on the Council
website at www.denbighshire.gov.uk.

7.

SUPPLEMENTARY PLANNING GUIDANCE

7.1

The following Supplementary Planning Guidance Notes (SPG) are of relevance to
the proposed scheme:


Archaeology SPG



Clwydian Range and Dee Valley Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB)
SPG



Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG



Listed Buildings SPG



Parking Requirements in New Developments SPG



Planning Obligations SPG



Renewable Energy SPG



Trees and Landscaping SPG

7.2

Copies of all adopted SPGs are available to view in its entirety on the Council
website at www.denbighshire.gov.uk.

7.3

A copy of the Renewable Energy SPG is however attached as APPENDIX XX to the
Report.

8.

OTHER MATERIAL CONSIDERATIONS

8.1

The Council consider the following to technical and guidance documents are material
planning considerations:

Page 26



Welsh Government LANDMAP: the all-Wales Geographical Information (GIS)
based resource for assessing landscape character and quality. LANDMAP is
the formally adopted methodology for landscape assessment in Wales and
informs planning related uses and landscape baseline conditions at both local
and landscape scale.



Cadw guidance document ‘Setting of Historic Assets in Wales Guidance’
(CADW, May 2017)

8.2

Denbighshire County Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in July
2019 and aim to become a net carbon zero and ecologically positive council by 2030.

8.3

Xx

PART C: ASSESSMENT OF IMPACTS
9.

PRINCIPLE OF DEVELOPMENT / CLIMATE CHANGE

9.1

The Environment (Wales) Act 2016 (Amendment of 2050 Emissions Target)
Regulations 2021 has set an amended target of reducing carbon emissions in Wales
to net zero by 2050.

9.2

Planning Policy Wales provides strategic policy support for renewable energy
developments of all scales. At 5.7.14 it states the Welsh Government has set targets
for the generation of renewable energy, which includes a target of 70% of electricity
consumption in Wales to be generated from renewable energy by 2030.

9.3

Future Wales, the National Plan 2040 forms part of the adopted development plan for
the County.

9.4

Future Wales Policy 17 sets out strong support to the principle of developing
renewable and low carbon energy from all technologies and at all scales to meet our
future energy needs. It states that, in determining planning applications for renewable
and low carbon energy development, decision-makers must give significant weight to
the need to meet Wales’ international commitments and the Welsh Government
target to generate 70% of consumed electricity by renewable means by 2030 in order
to combat the climate emergency.

9.5

Future Wales Policy 18 states proposals for renewable and low carbon energy
projects (including repowering) qualifying as Developments of National Significance
will be permitted, subject to compliance with the policy criteria.

9.6

LDP Policy VOE 10 supports renewable energy proposals where they are located to
minimise visual, noise and amenity impacts and demonstrate no unacceptable
impact upon the interests of natural conservation, wildlife, natural and cultural
heritage, landscape, public health and residential amenity

9.7

The Council’s adopted Renewable Energy SPG provides further guidance on solar
developments.

9.8

Denbighshire County Council declared a Climate and Ecological Emergency in July
2019 and aim to become a net carbon zero and ecologically positive council by 2030.

9.9

The proposal would have strategic benefits in terms of increased renewable energy
generation, contribute to the de-carbonisation of the energy supply network and
towards combating the climate emergency.

9.10

Having regard to the above, the principle of a solar energy farm park of the scale
proposed is considered to be in general accord with national and local planning
policies.

Page 27

9.11

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE

10.

BEST AND MOST VERSATILE AGRICULTURAL LAND

10.1

An agricultural land assessment has been undertaken which identifies small areas of
land to the south of the site as Grade 2 and Grade 3a. These areas are primarily
covered with the solar panels, and therefore the proposal would result in a small area
of the best and most versatile agricultural land within the site being taken out of
productive agricultural use during the construction and operational phase. However,
the solar panels could be removed from the site at the decommissioning phase and
the land could be restored to agricultural use upon the sites’ cessation as a solar
farm.

10.2

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: NEGATIVE



Operational Phase:

NEGATIVE

11.

LANDSCAPE CHARACTER AND VISUAL AMENITY

11.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

11.2

Whilst the site layout plan indicates general location for new planting, a detailed
scheme of hard and soft landscaping, including details of planting lists has not been
provided, and therefore conditions are considered necessary to secure submission of
a detailed landscaping scheme.

11.3

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

12.

ECOLOGY / BIODIVERSITY

12.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

12.2

Xx

12.3

xx

12.4

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

13.

RESIDENTIAL / PUBLIC AMENITY

13.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

1.1

Conclusion on assessment of impact:

Page 28



Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

14.

BUILT HERITAGE

14.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

1.2

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

15.

ACCESS, TRAFFIC AND TRANSPORT

15.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

1.3

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

16.

PUBLIC RIGHTS OF WAY

16.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

1.4

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

17.

FLOOD RISK

17.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

1.5

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE / NEGATIVE / NEUTRAL

18.

MINERAL SAFEGUARDING

18.1

The majority of the site is underlain by superficial sub-alluvial sand and gravel
deposits. As a result, the majority of the application site lies within the Minerals
Safeguarding area for sand and gravel in the Denbighshire LDP which aims to
protect mineral resources from being permanently sterilised from non-mineral
development to ensure that the resource is accessible for future extraction, should it
be required.

18.2

Policy PSE 15 of the Denbighshire LDP safeguards minerals from development that
would result in its permanent loss or hinder future extraction. Policy PSE 15 states

Page 29

that development will only be permitted where it can be demonstrated that the
development outweighs the need to protect the mineral resource, or would not have
a significant impact on the viability of that mineral being worked or where the mineral
is extracted prior to the development.
18.3

Comments made by the North Wales Minerals and Waste Planning Service which
informed the Council’s Scoping Opinion dated 26 May 2020 with regards to this
proposal remain unchanged. The North Wales Minerals and Waste Planning Service
has advised they would not raise an objection to the proposal on minerals
safeguarding grounds for the following reasons:


The proposed Solar Farm is considered to be a temporary use of land which
would not sterilise the mineral in perpetuity;



The solar panel infrastructure can be comparatively easily removed should
access to mineral be required;



There is no recent economic exploitation of the particular sand and gravel
resources in this, or near‐by locations;



There is no information on the quality of the deposit to indicate that they are
of a particularly high quality;



The need to de‐carbonise the generation of electricity outweighs the short
term sterilisation of the mineral;



The mineral will remain in place for future generations to exploit; and



The land take of safeguarded sand and gravel is modest and other
safeguarded sand and gravel resource remain in place in the County and
indeed the sub-region (including Denbighshire, Flintshire and Wrexham)
capable of meeting any short to medium term (year zero to say 50 years)
need identified in the Regional Technical Statement to exploit the mineral.

18.4

Whilst the site lies within the Mineral Safeguarding Area for Sand and Gravel, it is
considered that Policy PSE15 would not preclude the proposed development at this
site as the development would not have a significant impact on the viability of the
mineral being worked in the future. The proposal therefore would not give rise to
significant effects on mineral reserves.

18.5

The proposed development site is very large and it is considered that prior extraction
would be both impractical, and unnecessary in this instance. It is unlikely that the
proposed development itself would require any significant infrastructure which would
require construction containing sand and gravel that could be extracted from the
application site. It is however recommended that some geological site investigation
such as shallow auger boreholes, and trial pits are undertaken to assess ground
conditions and objectively define the extent and quality of the geological deposits to
inform the impact of the temporary sterilisation of the mineral. The resource beneath
the site is thought to be a sub-alluvial sand resource associated with the Rivers
Clwyd and Elwy. However, it is understood that the majority of economically viable
sand and gravel workings within Denbighshire over recent years have been in
glaciofluvial deposits, which is an indication that the quality of the resource at the
proposed site may not be optimal.

18.6

The proposed solar farm is a temporary development, once decommissioned the
site’s former agricultural use can be restored, with no likely significant lasting adverse
impacts on the site and the proposal would not permanently sterilise the sand and
gravel resource that lies beneath it. Once decommissioned, the sand and gravel
resource would be available for future extraction should the need arise.

Page 30

18.7

Should consent be given for the proposal, a condition should be imposed to ensure
that once the solar farms is no longer producing electricity, or the solar farm is no
longer required for energy production, that the solar farm is decommissioned,
equipment dismantled and removed, and the site is restored fully to ensure that the
mineral resource beneath the site is made accessible should it be required in the
future.

18.8

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: NEUTRAL



Operational Phase:

NEUTRAL

19.

SOCIO-ECONOMIC

19.1

The proposal would generate supply chain and employment opportunities, however
jobs during the construction and operational phase may not be drawn from the local
area, but would nevertheless provide wider economic benefits at a strategic scale.

19.2

There is the potential for positive social and economic effects which align with the
objectives of the LDP including the aim of delivering sustainable development.

1.6

Conclusion on assessment of impact:


Construction Phase: POSTIVE



Operational Phase:

POSTIVE

PART D: CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS
20.

CONDITIONS AND OBLIGATIONS

20.1

The Council does not consider planning obligations are required, however a suite of
conditions will be necessary to ensure the impacts of the proposal are adequately
management and mitigated.

20.2

The Council has reviewed the applicant’s Draft Planning Conditions which have been
submitted with the application, and has the following observations to make:

20.3

Applicant draft condition 1 – no objection to the three commencement rather than the
standard five year commencement date.

20.4

Applicant craft condition 2 – list of approved plans and documents subject to
condition 2 should be expanded to include Environmental Statement and technical
plans and assessments submitted with the application (Flood Consequences
Assessment, Arboricultural Impact Assessment etc.).

20.5

Applicant draft condition 3 – the wording of the condition is confusing. The condition
should be split into two separate conditions;


one condition simply to specify the timescales of the consent and to require
the applicant to notify the LPA within one month of first generation – e.g.:
This permission hereby granted shall endure for a period of 37 years from the
date when electricity is first exported from the development to the electricity
grid. Written confirmation of the first export date shall be sent to the local
planning authority within one month of the first export date.

Page 31



The second condition should pertain to the requirement to decommission and
restore the site, with the triggers for the removal of the equipment and
restoration of land clearly specified - e.g.:
Within 6 months of the 37 year expiration date, or following the cessation of
the generation of electricity form the approved solar energy farm for a
continuous period of 6 months (whichever if the sooner), all equipment shall
be removed and the land restored in accordance with a scheme to be
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority.

20.6

It is also not clear why draft condition 3 seeks to exclude the battery storage facility
from the need to be removed from site if the solar PV facility ceases to generate –
this needs to be clarified. The Council consider that, on the expiration of the 37
years, all equipment, including the battery storage facility, should be removed from
the site.

20.7

Applicant draft condition 4 – The Council has no objection to the imposition of this
condition, but would note the surface water drainage would still require formal,
separate approval from the Sustainable Urban Drainage Approval Body.

20.8

Applicant draft condition 5 – no comments, other than Arboricultural Impact
Assessment and Tree Protection Plan need to be included in the list of approved
documents contained in condition 2.

20.9

Applicant draft condition 6 – Agree condition is required to secure a construction
management plan, however provisions to be included in the plan needed to be
itemised in the condition for the avoidance of doubt.

20.10 Applicant draft condition 7 – No objection to the proposed timing of deliveries.
20.11 Applicant draft condition 8 – agree external lighting needs to be controlled, however
policy could be re-worded.
20.12 Applicant draft condition 9 – details of hard and soft landscaping have not been
sufficiently detailed in the application. A pre-commencement condition is required to
secure details of hard and soft landscaping, to include planting species lists and
materials scheduled. Disagree that soft landscaping should be carried out in the first
planting season after first generation of electricity. Planting should be carried out in
the first planting season after commencement of development, unless otherwise
agreed with the LPA.
20.13 Applicant draft condition 10 – support the inclusion of a condition to secure a Soil
Management Plan.
20.14 Applicant draft condition 11 – support the inclusion condition to secure a Biodiversity
/ Habitat Management Plan. Condition should include the requirement for provision
for ecological enhancement features to be included within the scheme to
demonstrate and biodiversity net gain.
20.15 Applicant draft condition 12 – support the inclusion of a condition to secure a CEMP.
20.16 Applicant draft condition 13 – support the inclusion of a condition to limit the noise
output from the development, however the noise limits should be specified in the
condition for clarity and for the avoidance of doubt. The Noise Assessment also
needs to be included in the list of approved plans and documents subject to condition
2.
20.17 Applicant draft condition 14 – support the inclusion of a condition to outline
requirements for the investigation of noise complaints.
20.18 Applicant draft condition 15 – support the inclusion of a condition to secure details of
archaeological mitigation

Page 32

20.19 Applicant draft condition 16 – support the inclusion of a condition to secure a PROW
Management Plan. The Council would note that secondary consents have now been
removed from the DNS application, and as such the development would still require
formal, separate approval from the Local Highway Authority for works to divert or
stop up any PROW on a temporary or permanent basis.
20.20 Applicant draft condition 17 - the Council would defer to the views of Welsh
Government Trunk Road Authority on the need for this condition.
20.21 Having regard to the commentary above, and the issues raised in the ‘Part C:
Assessment of Impacts’ section above, the Council would suggest the following
conditions are imposed, should planning permission be granted. The Council
considers the suggested conditions below are both reasonable and necessary to
ensure impacts on the local area are adequately managed and mitigated:
LIST OF SUGGESTED CONDITIONS – TBC following receipt of all internal
consultation responses

PART E: PUBLICITY UNDERTAKEN BY THE LPA
21.

SITE NOTICE

21.1

In accordance with the Developments of National Significance (Wales) Regulations
2016 the local planning authority posted English and Welsh site notices to publicise
the application and entered the application on the public register of applications
under reference number: 40/2021/0655. A copy of the application made to Welsh
Ministers (including a copy of the notification of receipt of an application) and a copy
of the notice of acceptable letter were all published against this reference number on
24 June 2021.

21.2

Three sets of English and Welsh site notices were posted around the site in locations
which would be publically visible on 24 June 2021. A copy of the English and Welsh
Notices are attached as APPENDIX XX and XX respectively, and photograph
evidence of the site notices in situ is attached as APPENDIX XX.

PART F: CONCLUSION
22.

CONCLUSIONS

22.1

TBC once internal consultation responses received

22.2

XX

PART G: APPENDICES
DCC LIR APP 1 XXX
DCC LIR APP 2 XXX
DCC LIR APP 3 XXX
DCC LIR APP 4 XXX
DCC LIR APP 5 XXX
DCC LIR APP 6 XXX

Page 33

Page 34

Agenda Item 4
PLANNING COMMITTEE
Minutes of a meeting of the Planning Committee held in via VIDEO CONFERENCE on
Wednesday, 16 June 2021 at 9.30 am.
PRESENT
Councillors Joan Butterfield, Ellie Chard, Ann Davies, Peter Evans, Alan Hughes,
Brian Jones, Tina Jones, Gwyneth Kensler, Christine Marston, Bob Murray, Merfyn Parry,
Paul Penlington, Pete Prendergast, Peter Scott, Tony Thomas, Julian Thompson-Hill,
Joe Welch (Chair), Emrys Wynne and Mark Young
Observers – Councillors Gareth Davies, Tony Flynn, Graham Timms, Brian Blakeley and
Meirick Lloyd Davies
ALSO PRESENT
Team Leader – Places Team (TD), Development Control Manager (PM), Senior Planning
Officer (LG), Planning Officer (PG), Senior Engineer – Development Control (MP),
Stephanie Jones (Webcast Host) and Committee Administrator (SLW)
Public Speakers – Phil Quirk, Philip Lowndes, Stuart Andrew and Daniel Parry
1

APOLOGIES
Apologies were received from Councillor Melvyn Mile

2

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
None.

3

APPOINTMENT OF CHAIR
Nominations were sought for the position of Chair of the Planning Committee for
2019/20. Councillor Mark Young proposed, seconded by Councillor Peter Evans
that Councillor Joe Welch be appointed Chair.
There was a unanimous show of hands in agreement to the proposal.
RESOLVED that Councillor Joe Welch be appointed Chair of the Planning
Committee for the ensuing year.

4

APPOINTMENT OF VICE-CHAIR
Nominations were sought for the position of Vice-Chair of the Planning Committee
for 2021/22. Councillor Ann Davies proposed, seconded by Councillor Tony
Thomas that Councillor Christine Marston be appointed Vice-Chair.

Page 35

There was a unanimous show of hands in agreement to the proposal.
RESOLVED that Councillor Christine Marston be appointed Vice-Chair of the
Planning Committee for the ensuing year.
5

URGENT MATTERS AS AGREED BY THE CHAIR
None.
At this juncture, Paul Mead, Development Control Manager welcomed two new
Members of Planning Committee, Councillors Joan Butterfield and Alan Hughes.
Both Councillor Joan Butterfield and Alan Hughes confirmed they would not take
part in the voting until they had received additional training which would take place
prior to the Planning Committee meeting to be held in July 2021.

6

MINUTES
The minutes of the meeting held on 12 May 2021 were submitted.
RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 12 May 2021 be approved as
a correct record.

APPLICATIONS FOR PERMISSION FOR DEVELOPMENT (ITEMS 7 - 10)
Applications received requiring determination by the committee were submitted together
with associated documentation. Reference was also made to late supplementary
information (blue sheets) received since publication of the agenda which related to
particular applications. In order to accommodate public speaking requests it was agreed
to vary the agenda order of applications accordingly.
7

APPLICATION NO. 43/2020/0521/PF - LAND ADJACENT TO ALEXANDRA
DRIVE, PRESTATYN
An application was submitted for the erection of 102 affordable dwellings,
associated roads, open space, landscaping and infrastructure (re-submission of
planning application 44/2019/0629) at land adjacent to Alexandra Drive, Prestatyn.
Public Speaker –
Phil Quirk (against) – explained the ongoing issues regarding problems with the
drainage system which happened on a regular basis. He stated that the pumping
station could not cope with the amount of waste currently and with the addition of
102 more properties, this would cause more problems. He requested members
refuse the application until satisfactory sewage disposal was in place.
Philip Lowndes (against) – explained the location of the proposed development
was not within the LDP and was farming land. Properties to the west of the site had
run off problems which would be mitigated by additional 102 properties. The
infrastructure to accommodate the additional number of properties would not be

Page 36

able to cope. With only one road proposed to enter and leave the development,
this would cause highway problems. He requested members refuse the application.
Stuart Andrew (for) - Design and Planning Director of Castle Green Homes. He
stated that the most significant aspect of the development was to be 102 affordable
homes. There was an exceptional need for affordable housing. This development
should be considered acceptable and should be granted.
Daniel Parry (for) – Development Director of Adra Homes. He explained Adra had
been providing affordable housing across North Wales and know the area. The
development would have 46 social rent homes. It would be a mixed development
of 2-4 bedroom houses and bungalows. There is a need in Prestatyn for affordable
housing.
Due to the need, Denbighshire County Council and the Welsh
Government were willing to support the scheme with grant funding. If approved, the
development would commence over the summer to give housing to families who
desperately need it.
General Debate - Councillors Bob Murray, Paul Penlington, Julian Thompson-Hill
and Gareth Davies all expressed their concerns regarding the proposed
development. The land was not within the LDP and was farming land which should
be utilised as such.
Prestatyn Town Council had raised objections to the development together with the
MS and MP.
Residents had raised concerns with local members regarding flooding, traffic and
not good for the environment. The local infrastructure was a concern as schools,
doctors etc., would not have capacity to deal with the additional numbers expected.
Local Councillors confirmed there was a need for affordable housing in Prestatyn
but not on the site proposed.
Lara Griffiths, Senior Planning Officer explained that the key matter was Planning
Policy Wales and the land had been added as a replacement in the new LDP.
Members were required to make a decision on material planning considerations.
The need for affordable housing was very high as 6/10 households in Prestatyn had
no access to private rental or able to purchase. The social housing need in
Prestatyn was the highest in Prestatyn. The development of affordable homes
would be for local people.
During discussions, the Development Control Manager, Paul Mead, confirmed as
stated previously, that there was a need in Prestatyn for affordable housing.
Currently it was not an allocated sight but corporately, affordable housing delivery
was a priority. The development would ensure issues regarding flooding, drainage
and impact on neighbours would be dealt with.
If the application were to be
refused the developers would go through the appeal process. Planning officers
have listened to the view of residents and members but the recommendation by
officers to grant the application was evidence based.

Page 37

Proposal – Councillor Bob Murray proposed the application be refused against
officer recommendations, seconded by Councillor Paul Penlington.
The reasons for refusal were as follows: Site outside the development boundary and contrary to LDP;
 Loss of best and most versatile agricultural land
 Impact of this development on this site on foul and surface water drainage
provision.
Vote –
Grant – 9
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 7
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with
recommendations as detailed within the report and supplementary papers.

officer

At this juncture (10.55 a.m.) there was a 15 minute break.
The meeting reconvened at 11.05 a.m.
8

APPLICATION NO. 43/2021/0063/PF - 23 GROSVENOR ROAD, PRESTATYN
An application was submitted for the erection of a 3 metre high timber fence to
screen caravan and erection of decking and ramp to serve caravan at 23 Grosvenor
Road, Prestatyn.
At this juncture, the Development Control Manager, Paul Mead explained a public
speaker had provided a written statement in favour of the application.
Written statement provided by Brian Robinson (for) –
I am a Chartered Building Engineer acting and speaking on behalf of the applicant
Mrs Lisa Wilton.
It is our opinion that the caravan sited at the rear of 23 Grosvenor Road, Prestatyn
does not require planning permission as it is an annexe to the main dwelling. The
caravan is ancillary to the main dwelling as confirmed in the Planning Officers email
sent to me on 7 June. The Planning Officer being Miss Emer O’Conner.
The caravan is not a separate dwelling unit.
Although there is a small kitchenette in the caravan, all family cooking is done in the
main dwelling.
There are no laundry facilities in the caravan, all washing being done in the main
dwelling.
Disability washing facilities are provided in the caravan for the benefit of my clients
parents and her sister. My clients step father suffers from Parkinsons Disease and
her sister suffers from Downs Syndrome.
The application, in fact, is not for the caravan but for the timber screen fence,
providing privacy for the adjoining neighbours and for the decking and ramp which
are provided to allow my clients step-father to gain access to the caravan.

Page 38

My clients stepfather has great difficulty gaining access to the main dwelling due to
the steps.
As the caravan is an annexe to the main dwelling, we feel that the screen fencing
and decking/ramp should be granted planning permission.
General Debate – Councillor Tony Flynn informed members he had spoken with
both the applicant and neighbouring residents. The neighbouring residents
expressed concern regarding the height of the fence but also requested that the
fence be of a good quality.
It was confirmed that if the caravan were to be removed in the future, the fence
would be required to lowered to the current 1.8 metre height.
Proposal Councillor Julian Thompson-Hill proposed the application be granted in
accordance with officer recommendation, seconded by Councillor Peter Scott.
VOTE –
Grant – 16
Abstain – 0
Refuse – 0
RESOLVED that permission be GRANTED in accordance with
recommendations as detailed within the report and supplementary papers.
9

officer

APPLICATION NO. 45/2020/0844/PF - SANDY LODGE, 83 DYSERTH ROAD,
RHYL
An application was submitted for alteration and adaptation of existing Nursing
Home to include extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy at Sandy Lodge, 83 Dyserth Road,
Rhyl.
Councillor Brian Jones, stated at the meeting held in May, he requested the
application at Sandy Lodge, be deferred until a site visit had been carried out at the
site. Councillor Jones, again proposed the application be deferred until a site visit
could be carried out.
Vote For deferment – 16
Abstain – 0
Against – 0
RESOLVED that the application for the alteration and adaptation of existing Nursing
Home at Sandy Lodge, Rhyl be deferred to a future meeting for the reasons set out
by Councillor Brian Jones above.

10

APPLICATION NO. 47/2021/0257/PF - 2 BRYN IBOD WAEN ST. ASAPH
An application was submitted for the erection of rear two storey extension with
adjoining single storey extension at 2 Bryn Ibod, Waen, St. Asaph.

Page 39

Councillor Christine Marston requested the application be deferred until members
given the opportunity to hold a site visit to ascertain the impact on neighbouring
properties.
Vote –
For deferment – 16
Abstain – 0
Against – 0
RESOLVED that the application for the erection of a rear two storey extension with
adjoining single storey extension at 2 Bryn Ibod, Waen, St. Asaph, be deferred to a
future meeting for the reason set out by Councillor Christine Marston above.

The meeting concluded at 11.45 a.m.

Page 40

Agenda Item 5
WARD :

Ruthin

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Bobby Feeley
Cllr Huw Hilditch-Roberts
Cllr Emrys Wynne (c)

APPLICATION NO:

02/2021/0179/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4 no. residential
apartments with associated parking and rear access

LOCATION:

The Nook Bryn Goodman Ruthin LL15 1EL

Page 41

This page is intentionally left blank

20 m
100 ft

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
02/2021/0179
Scale: 1:1250
Printed on: 28/6/2021 at 6:57 AM

Page 43

© Denbighshire County Council

Page 44

Site Location Plan

NTS

A
+8.61m
Ridge Line

B

+5.40m
Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Aluminium Windows

Aluminium Doors

Composite Timber Cladding

Curtain Walling

+2.70m
First Floor FFL

Roof Tile

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Rainwater Goods

Obscured Glazing

+0.00m
Ground Floor FFL

Proposed Front Elevation (A)

Page 45

+8.61m
Ridge Line

+8.61m
Ridge Line

+5.40m

+2.70m
First Floor FFL

The Building Plot
+0.00m
Ground Floor FFL

Unit 4, Ffordd yr Onnen
Lon Parcwr Industrial Estate
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Nooke, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin
Drawing No.19.033.A008

Revision.P01

Scale.1:100

Date.23.02.21

Paper Size.A3

Proposed Side Elevation (B)

Proposed Elevations (1 of 2)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings
refer to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. Survey information provided by Land Survey Wales.
The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this information.

Page 46

Site Location Plan

NTS

+8.61m
Ridge Line

D
C

+5.40m
Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Aluminium Windows

Aluminium Doors

Composite Timber Cladding

Curtain Walling

+2.70m
First Floor FFL

Roof Tile

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Rainwater Goods

Obscured Glazing

+0.00m
Ground Floor FFL

Proposed Rear Elevation (C)

Page 47
+8.61m
Ridge Line

+5.40m

+2.70m
First Floor FFL

The Building Plot
+0.00m
Ground Floor FFL

Unit 4, Ffordd yr Onnen
Lon Parcwr Industrial Estate
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Nooke, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin
Drawing No.19.033.A009

Revision.P01

Scale.1:100

Date.23.02.21

Paper Size.A3

Proposed Side Elevation (D)

Proposed Elevations (2 of 2)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings
refer to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. Survey information provided by Land Survey Wales.
The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this information.

Page 48

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 49

The Site

Page 50

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 51

Access looking west

Page 52

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 53

Access looking east

Page 54

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 55

Trees on boundary

Page 56

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 57

View down proposed driveway

Page 58

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 59

Oak to front of site

Page 60

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 61

View towards Bryn Eryl

Page 62

Eitem Agenda 5 / Agenda Item 5

Page 63

Parking area for site

Page 64

Paul Griffin
WARD :

Ruthin

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Bobby Feeley
Cllr Huw Hilditch-Roberts
Cllr Emrys Wynne (c)

APPLICATION NO:

02/2021/0179/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4 no. residential
apartments with associated parking and rear access

LOCATION:

The Nook Bryn Goodman Ruthin LL15 1EL

APPLICANT:

Roberts Homes Ltd.

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2



Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection

CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
RUTHIN TOWN COUNCIL:
“The proposal would overdevelop the site, and it would be out of character with neighbouring
properties. It would cause an increase in traffic. Concern was expressed also whether the place
for access to the rear is feasible with the trees on the site. Members were of the opinion that a
professional tree survey report was required.”
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES:
No objections provided that the mitigation proposals detailed in the submitted Bat and Nesting
Bird Assessment Report are conditioned and adhered to.
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER:
No objection subject to conditions relating to details of foul water drainage scheme, and
advisory note informing the applicant of the need to secure consent from the SuDS Approval
Body (SAB) prior to work commencing.
CLWYD POWYS ARCHAEOLOGICAL TRUST
No objection subject to the imposition of a condition requiring a Level 2 building survey to be
carried out prior to the commencement of development.

DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
Highways Officer
No objections
County Ecologist:
Awaiting response, but noted no objections were raised to the previous proposal, and
conditions were suggested.

Page 65

Flood Risk Engineer:
Awaiting response
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer:
No objections, advice given as to the required affordable housing and open space
contributions.
Tree Specialist
No objections. The proposed layout and mitigation measures are acceptable in principle.
However, given that it is important that any lopping of the trees is done correctly it is suggested
that the final details of canopy lift should be required by planning condition.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Michelle Arthur, 15, Bryn Eryl, Ruthin Gillian Jones, Pennant, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin Edwin
Harding Evans, Gorwel Jo Powell, Bryn Eryl, Bryn Goodman Myrna O'Hare, Lasynys, Bryn
Goodman, Ruthin John Collister, Coppins, Bryn Goodman, Ruthin Eifion & Mary Jones 11Bryn
Eryl, Ruthin Dr Kerr C Walker, Dornoch Bryn Goodman K. Almond, Bryn-y-Fedw, Bryn
Goodman, Ruthin
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Impact on residential amenity by way of additional noise/disturbance, overshadowing, loss of
privacy, overbearing
Impact on visual amenity by way of design, siting and scale in relation to the character of the
area.
Impact on heritage asset through the loss of what is considered to be a relatively rare building.
Impact on highway safety by way of additional vehicles using Bryn Goodman

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 27/04/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 18/5/21
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):



delay in receipt of key consultation response(s)
additional information required from applicant

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 Full planning permission is sought for the demolition of an existing dwelling and
erection of a block of 4 no. residential apartments with associated parking and rear
access.
1.1.2

Each apartment would provide 2 bedrooms, lounge, kitchen and diner.

1.1.3

Proposed front elevation:

Page 66

1.1.4

Parking and turning for 8 vehicles would be provided – 4 spaces to the front of the
apartments, and 4 to the rear. The parking area would be made of a hardstanding as
detailed in the submitted tree survey.

1.1.5

Proposed site layout:

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is submitted with a Tree Report, a Protected Species Survey and a
Design and Access Statement.

1.3 Description of site and surroundings

Page 67

1.3.1

The site is located on an un-adopted road. It is relatively flat, and is currently occupied
by a 1.5 storey dwelling of an unusual design. Access and parking is to the front of
the site.

1.3.2

There are a number of mature trees within the site, which have recently been
protected with a Tree Preservation Order.

1.3.3

The surrounding area is characterised by large detached dwellings in large plots.
Many of the plots are well landscaped, with mature trees making a noticeable
contribution to the character of the street scene.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is within the development boundary of Ruthin, as defined in the adopted
Local Development Plan.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 In relation to the site itself, Members are advised that a previous application for the
development of 4 apartments in a manner similar to that now proposed was refused
consent at a ‘non-determination appeal’. The background to the appeal is
complicated, but the pertinent points are that in the process of the appeal the Local
Planning Authority raised concerns with the Inspectorate about the proposal in terms
of it resulting in a detrimental impact upon the protected trees within the site and a
detrimental impact upon character with the surrounding area by introducing an over
intense form of development.
1.5.2

These concerns, along with comments raised by local residents were considered fully
by the Planning Inspector as part of the appeal.

1.5.3

In relation to the impact the proposal would have on the character of the area, the
Inspector concluded that the proposal would respect the site and surroundings in
terms of its siting, layout, scale, form, character and design, in line with Policy RD1 of
the Denbighshire Local Development Plan.

1.5.4

In considering concerns raised by residents relating to residential amenity the
Inspector concluded:“The proposed development would take a two-storey side elevation several metres
closer to the neighbouring dwelling, Bryn Eryl, which is at a lower level. Whilst it would
be much more visible from Bryn Eryl than the existing dwelling, I do not consider that
it would be so close or so large as to have an oppressive or over-dominant impact on
the neighbouring occupiers. Neither would it cause a detrimental loss of sunlight or
daylight to the property. There would be no adverse impact on dwellings at the rear of
The Nooke.”

1.5.5

In considering concerns raised by residents relating to parking and additional traffic in
the area, the Inspector concluded that the number of vehicles entering the plot,
including to the permitted dwelling at the rear, would not cause significant harm or
annoyance to existing occupiers by way of noise and fumes, or from the increased
amount of traffic in Bryn Goodman.

1.5.6

However, in considering the impact on the trees the Inspector reached a clear
conclusion that the scheme as submitted would have had a detrimental impact upon
the protected oak tree to the rear. The final conclusion reads:
“The proposed location and construction of the hard-surfaced parking area, however,
would be a considerable threat to the health and life expectancy of the protected oak
on the front boundary. The loss or depletion of this tree would be significantly
detrimental to the amenity of the area. This is reason in itself to refuse the appeal.”

Page 68

1.5.7

Members are also advised that to the rear of the site, planning permission has
previously been granted for a detached dwelling. The planning reference for this
permission is 02/2018/1072.

1.5.8

The permission to the rear has not been implemented. The site belongs to the
applicants, it is understood. The applicants acknowledge that if this earlier permission
was implemented, the scheme now being considered could not be implemented (if
permission were granted) and vice versa. The applicants advise that should this
permission be granted, they would consider revising the proposed layout of the site to
the rear to enable both schemes to be implemented.

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 The parking layout has been amended to pull it further away from the protected oak
tree to the front of the site. Additional information has also been submitted in relation
to the impacts of the driveway on the protected trees to the side of the site.

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 None.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 02/2020/0282 - Demolition of existing dwelling and erection of 4 no. residential apartments
with associated parking and rear access. Determined by Appeal – refused on the basis of
impact on protected trees.

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development
Policy BSC4 – Affordable Housing
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Recreational Public Open Space
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping

3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040

Page 69

Technical Advice Notes
TAN 1 Joint Housing Land Availability Studies (2015)
TAN 2 Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN 10 Tree Preservation Orders (1997)
TAN 12 Design (2016)
TAN 18 Transport (2007)
Circulars

3.3 Other material considerations

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6
4.1.7
4.1.8
4.1.9
4.1.10

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Ecology
Impact on trees
Drainage (including flooding)
Highways (including access and parking)
Archaeology
Affordable Housing
Open Space

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The main policy in the Local Development Plan (LDP) which is relevant to the
principle of housing development in towns is BSC1 which seeks to make provision for
new housing in a range of locations, concentrating development within identified
development boundaries.
Policy RD1 states that development proposals within development boundaries will be
supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria. The proposals would therefore
be acceptable in terms of the general principles of these policies.

Page 70

The principle of the development of 4 apartments within the development boundary is
considered acceptable and in accordance with the development strategy of the LDP,
subject to an assessment of its impacts.
The detailed impacts of the proposals for the proposal are reviewed in the following
paragraphs of the report.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (vi) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The visual amenity and landscape impacts
of development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
The proposal would introduce a large block of 4 apartments, with parking for 4
vehicles to the front and 4 to the rear of the proposed apartment block. The apartment
block would be approximately 20metres wide, and 8.6metres high. It would be within
2m of the north eastern boundary, and 6m of the south western boundary.
Proposed street scene elevation:

Whilst respecting the concerns raised in relation to the impact of the proposal upon
the character and appearance of the area, Officers are bound to remind Members of
the conclusion of the Planning Inspector in the previous appeal in which it was
observed that
“The proposed block would have a domestic, residential character in keeping with
other dwellings nearby. The recessed central portion of the proposed building, which
would have a lower ridge height than the main roof, would break up the frontage,
lessen its bulk and thus give the appearance of it being separate houses rather than
an apartment block. Whilst considerably larger than some of the surrounding
dwellings, there is much variety in the street. The proposed development would thus
appear similar in scale to others, including houses to the east.”

Page 71

The Planning Inspector further considered that the separation distances to
neighbouring dwellings was acceptable, and would not result in a terracing effect, that
parking to the front of the dwelling would not be out of character with the area as such
arrangements already exist along Bryn Goodman.
On the basis of the details submitted, and the comments of the Planning Inspector, it
is considered that the proposal would not be unacceptable in terms of its impact upon
the character and appearance of the area. The proposal therefore complies with
Policy RD1 of the adopted Local Development Plan in this respect.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc..
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The residential amenity impacts of
development should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
Concerns have been raised by the Town Council and neighbours over the residential
amenity impacts of the development, suggesting the proposal would have an
overbearing impact on neighbours, would result in additional disturbance by way of
vehicular movements and that the size and scale of the development would make the
site too cramped.
In terms of space within the site it is noted that there is well in excess of 200 square
metres of garden area available for the residents. The adopted Residential Space
Standards recommends a minimum of 50 square metres, plus 10 square metres for
each flat. This would equate to 90 square metres being required. The proposal
therefore significantly over provides, and on that basis it would difficult to sustain a
refusal on the grounds of over development.
In terms of impact upon neighbouring properties by way of loss of light, loss of privacy
and additional disturbance, Officers must again refer to the previous appeal decision
in which the Planning Inspector considered such issues. The Inspector concluded that
the proposal would not appear cramped against ‘The Coppins’, would not be so close
or so large as to have an oppressive or over-dominant impact on the neighbouring
occupiers, such as those at Bryn Eryl, would not result in a loss of privacy or light, and
would not have an unacceptable impact on dwellings to the rear of The Nook. The
Inspector further commented that the number of vehicles entering the plot, including
to the permitted dwelling at the rear, would not cause significant harm or annoyance
to existing occupiers by way of noise and fumes, or from the increased amount of
traffic in Bryn Goodman.
On the basis of the details submitted, and the comments of the Planning Inspector, it
is considered that the proposal would not be unacceptable in terms of its impact upon
the residential amenity of the area and would not represent overdevelopment of the
site. The proposal therefore complies with Policy RD1 of the adopted Local
Development Plan in this respect.

Page 72

4.2.4

Ecology
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (iii) requires development to protect and
where possible to enhance the local natural and historic environment.
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant
harm to such interests.
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.4
‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’, current legislation and the Conservation and
Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG, which stress the importance of the planning
system in meeting biodiversity objectives through promoting approaches to
development which create new opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent
biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable.
NRW have been consulted and note that the bat report submitted in support of the
above application has identified that bats are present at the application site. From the
information submitted, NRW consider that the proposed development represents a
lower risk for bats. As this is a lower risk case for bats, it is considered that the
development is not likely to be detrimental to the maintenance of the population of the
species concerned at a favourable conservation status in its natural range.
The County Ecologist has not formally responded to this application, however, it is
noted that on the previous application he raised no objections subject to conditions
being imposed to ensure that appropriate mitigation measures are implemented, and
that an external lighting scheme is submitted prior to it being installed.
Based on the details submitted and the responses of technical consultees, it is
considered that the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon the
biodiversity of the site, or any protected species. The proposal is therefore considered
to be acceptable in this regard.

4.2.5

Impact on trees
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (iii) requires development to protect and
where possible to enhance the local natural and historic environment. Criteria v) of
RD1 requires development proposals to incorporate existing landscape or other
features (such as trees for example). Planning Policy Wales (section 6.2.24)
emphasises the need to protect trees and take them into account when considering
development proposals.
Concerns have been raised locally regarding the impact on the protected trees.
There are a number of trees present on the site, 3 of which are the subject of a Tree
Preservation Order (TPO). A tree survey has been submitted with the application,
which addresses how the proposal would impact upon the 3 key trees on the site. It
focuses on the issues which were raised during the appeal and were ultimately the
reason for the previous application being refused. It details the impact of the
hardstanding/driveway on the Oak tree to the front boundary, the Scots Pine to the
side boundary, and the Beech also to the side boundary. The submitted tree report
details that before any building works commence it is essential that all tree protection
fencing and cellular confinement system is in place to protect the root protection
areas. Important areas will be designated as ‘no dig’ areas and tree protection fencing
will be installed during works.
The Councils Tree Consultant has commented that the proposed layout is unlikely to
have a detrimental impact upon the health and viability of the trees. It is noted that the
hardstanding area has been repositioned/redesigned from the previously refused
scheme to ensure that it does not encroach unacceptably into the root protection

Page 73

area. Two separate tree reports have been submitted with the application, and whilst
there is some contradiction between them as to what works would be required to the
oak tree to the front, it is considered that the works can be controlled through a
suitably worded planning condition.
On the basis of the information provided and the response of the tree consultant, it is
not considered that the proposed development would have an unacceptable impact
upon the health and vitality of the protected trees on the site.

4.2.6

Drainage (including flooding)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (xi) requires that development satisfies
physical or natural environmental considerations relating to drainage and liability to
flooding.
Planning Policy Wales confirms that factors to be taken into account in making
planning decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they
must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public
interest, towards the goal of sustainability. The drainage / flooding impacts of a
development proposal are a material consideration.
No objections have been received in relation to the drainage proposals for the site. It
is noted that foul waste would be discharged to the mains sewer, and surface water
drainage would be via soakaways.

4.2.7

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards. The Parking Standards in New Developments
SPG sets out the maximum parking standards for new developments
Highway Officers have raised no objection to the proposal, and in the previous appeal
the Planning Inspector found no reason to refuse the proposal on the basis of
additional traffic, access details or parking arrangements.
The proposal is not considered to be in conflict with policies listed above.

4.2.8

Archaeology
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (iii) requires development to protect and
where possible to enhance the local natural and historic environment.
Local Development Plan Policy VOE1 seeks to protect sites of built heritage from
development which would adversely affect them, and requires that development
proposals should maintain and wherever possible enhance them for their
characteristics, local distinctiveness and value to local communities.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11), Section 6 ‘Distinctive and Natural Places’
recognises the need to conserve archaeological remains. The consideration of
archaeological remains and their setting is a material planning consideration in
determining planning applications, whether those remains are a schedules monument
or not.

Page 74

Section 4 of TAN 24 - The Historic Environment sets out similar considerations to be
given by a Local Planning Authority to the determination of applications involving
archaeological remains, and their settings. It outlines different scenarios obliging
consideration of impacts and stresses the need for submissions to include relevant
surveys, studies and assessments, and mitigation proposals.
Clwyd Powys Archaeological Trust (CPAT) have commented that the existing
bungalow on the site is thought to have been constructed in the earlier part of the 20th
century, and despite having undergone some renovation in the 1960's, the timber
frame of the bungalow in Edwardian style is now relatively rare. Given that the
proposals would result in the demolition of this building, CPAT consider it important to
obtain a record of the structure in its present form, prior to demolition, all details of
which will inevitably be lost once the building is levelled.
In accordance with Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11, Feb 2021) and TAN 24 (May
2017) guidance CPAT recommend as a condition of consent that a programme of
historic building recording, the equivalent of an Historic England Level 2 building
survey is completed prior to demolition to obtain a permanent record of the building in
its present form. The Level 2 survey would include a detailed photographic survey,
written descriptive survey and a measured survey using annotated architects plans.
Based on the information submitted, and the responses received the proposal is not
considered to be unacceptable in terms of its impact upon the archaeology of the site,
provided that a record of the existing building is made before its demolition.

4.2.9

Affordable Housing
Policy BSC 1 of the Local Development Plan states that developers will be expected
to provide a range of house sizes, types and tenures to reflect local need and
demand.
Policy BSC3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute where relevant to the provision of infrastructure including
affordable housing, in line with Policy BSC4.
Policy BSC 4 seeks to ensure, where relevant, 10% affordable housing either on site
on developments of 10 or more residential units or by way of a financial contribution
on development of less than 10 residential units.
There is detailed guidance in the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance on the approach to provision and demand.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 4.2.25 states that a community’s need for
affordable housing is a material planning considerations which must be taken into
account in formulating development plan policies and the determination of planning
applications. It states that where development plan policies make clear that an
element of affordable housing is required on specific sites, this will be a material
consideration.
The financial contribution is calculated using the BICS building figure and the average
dwelling size. This is then multiplied by 10% of the number of planned units. The
average dwelling size is based on the Gross Internal Floor Area (GIA).
The proposed development consists of 4 apartments with an average GIA of 97.1m2.
A financial contribution of £45,326.28 (figures correct as of March 2021) will be
required for affordable housing.
It is Officers’ opinion therefore that subject to a legal agreement being entered into, to
secure the financial contribution towards affordable housing, the proposal is
acceptable in terms of compliance with the Council’s affordable housing policy.

Page 75

4.2.10 Open Space
Local Development Plan Policy BSC 3 seeks to ensure, where relevant, infrastructure
contributions from development. Policy BSC 11 requires proposals for all new
residential development to make a contribution to recreation and open space either
on site, or by provision of a commuted sum.
Welsh Government Circular 016/2014, ‘The Use of Planning Conditions in
Development Management’, states that commitments on behalf of the developer
involving transfers of land or payments to be made to the local planning authority are
more appropriately required through a planning obligation and should not be required
in a condition. This is expanded on in Welsh Office Circular 13/97.
The Strategic Planning & Housing Team advise that Ruthin is deficient in outdoor
space for children and young people against FIT standards as well as natural and
semi natural greenspace, public parks and gardens. On the basis of a development of
4 apartments (a net gain of 3 dwellings), a financial contribution of £3711.65 would be
required for open space.
It is Officers’ opinion therefore that subject to a legal agreement being entered into,
the proposal is acceptable in terms of the provision for open space.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Whilst respecting the concerns raised by local residents, Officers are of the strong opinion
that the concerns raised have already been addressed and dismissed as insufficient to justify
refusal of planning permission.
5.2 The only matter that was unacceptable previously was the impact upon the protected trees.
This application seeks to overcome that objection, and in Officers opinion the proposal is
acceptable.
5.3 It is therefore recommended that planning permission be granted subject to the following
conditions and the completion of a legal agreement to secure a contribution of £3711.65
towards public open space in the community, and a contribution of £45,326.28 towards
affordable housing provision in the area.
5.4 The planning permission would only be released on completion of the legal agreement.
Failure to complete the Agreement within 12 months of the date of the Committee meeting

Page 76

would oblige the application to be reported back to Committee and reconsidered against
policies and guidance in place at that time.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 14th July 2026

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Proposed elevations (1 of 2) (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A008 P01) received 25 February
2021
(ii) Proposed elevations (2 of 2) (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A009 P01) received 25 February
2021
(iii) Proposed ground floor plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A005 P01) received 25 February
2021
(iv) Proposed first floor plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A007 P01) received 25 February
2021
(v) Proposed roof plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A008 P01) received 25 February 2021 (vi)
Existing site elevation and section (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A010 P01) received 25
February 2021
(vii) Proposed site elevation and section (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A011 P01) received 25
February 2021
(viii) Existing site plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A003 P01) received 25 February 2021 (ix)
Proposed site plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A004 P03) received 21 May 2021
(x) Existing site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A001 P01) received 25 February
2021
(xi) Proposed site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.033_A002 P01) received 21 May 2021
(xii) Tree report received 21 May 2021 (xiii) Design and Access Statement received 25
February 2021
(xiv) Bat and Nesting Bird Assessment report received 3 March 2021

3.

No development shall take place until there has been submitted to, and approved in writing
by, the Local Planning Authority, a detailed scheme of hard and soft landscaping for the site,
and such scheme shall include details of:
(a) all existing trees, hedgerows and other vegetation on the land, details of any to be
retained, and measures for their protection in the course of development.
(b) proposed new trees, hedgerows, shrubs or vegetation, including confirmation of species,
numbers, and location and the proposed timing of the planting;
(c) proposed materials to be used on the driveway(s), paths and other hard surfaced areas;
(d) proposed earthworks, grading and mounding of land and changes in levels, final contours
and the relationship of proposed mounding to existing vegetation and surrounding landform;
(e) Proposed positions, design, materials and type of boundary treatment.

4.

All planting, seeding, turfing, fencing, walling or other treatment comprised in the approved
details of landscaping shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding seasons following
the occupation of the dwelling and any trees or plants which, within a period of five years of
the development, die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be
replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species.

5.

All trees and hedges to be retained as part of the development hereby permitted shall be
protected during site clearance and construction work by 1 metre high fencing erected 1
metre outside the outermost limits of the branch spread, or in accordance with an alternative
scheme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no construction materials or
articles of any description shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk
or hedgerow and such fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised
or lowered, or any trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.

Page 77

6.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
Prior to the commencement of the development, the written approval of the Local Planning
Authority shall be obtained in respect of the walls and roof materials to be used for the
development hereby permitted and no materials other than those approved shall be used.

7.

Facilities shall be provided and retained within the site for the parking and turning of vehicles
in accordance with the approved plan, and shall be completed prior to the proposed
development being brought into use.

8.

Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and Country Planning (General Permitted
Development) Order 1995 (or any order revoking and re-enacting that order with or without
modification) no windows additional to those shown on the approved plans shall be inserted
at any time in the dwelling hereby permitted.

9.

The development hereby approved shall be carried out in strict accordance with the
mitigation, compensation and enhancement measures set out in Section 4 of the approved
Bat & Nesting Bird Assessment (PJ Ecological Solutions dated March 2019).

10.

No development shall be permitted to commence until the details of the provision for roosting
bats and nesting birds has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning
Authority. The details shall include the number, location and specification of these features
which shall be determined by a suitably qualified ecologist and shown on appropriate plans.
The development shall proceed in strict accordance with the approved plan and details.

11.

No external lighting shall be permitted to be installed or operated, including emergency /
security lighting, until the written approval of the Local Planning Authority has been obtained
to details thereof, including a light mitigation strategy, with measures to reduce light spillage
onto foraging habitats for bats. The scheme shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the
approved details.

12.

The development should include access through site boundaries for hedgehogs. The location
and specification of these features should be determined by a suitably qualified
ecologist, details of which should be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local
Planning Authority. The approved measures shall be implemented in full.

13.

No development shall commence until a foul water drainage scheme for the site has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide
for the disposal of foul water flows and thereafter implemented in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of the development.

14.

No development shall take place until a programme of building recording and analysis,
equivalent to an Historic England Level 2 building survey, has been secured and
implemented, in accordance with a brief issued by the local planning authority and a written
scheme of investigation which has been submitted and approved in writing by the local
planning authority. The survey will be completed by a professional archaeological contractor.
The programme of building analysis and recording must meet the standards laid down by the
Chartered Institute for Archaeologists in their Standard and Guidance for the archaeological
investigation and recording of standing buildings or structures. A copy of the resulting report
should be submitted to the Local Planning Authority and the
Development Control Assistant, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust (The Offices, Coed y
Dinas, Welshpool, Powys, SY21 8RP Email: sophie.watson@cpat.org.uk Tel: 01938 553670).
After approval by the Local Planning Authority, a copy of the report and resulting archive
should also be sent to the
Historic Environment Record Officer, Clwyd-Powys Archaeological Trust for inclusion in the
regional Historic Environment Record.

15.

A Landscape Management Plan, including management company details, management
responsibilities and maintenance schedules for all landscaped areas within the site shall be
submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the occupation of

Page 78

any of the dwellings on the site. The landscape management plan shall be carried out as
approved.
16.

All trees and hedges to be retained as part of the development hereby permitted shall be
protected during site clearance and construction work by 1 metre high fencing erected 1
metre outside the outermost limits of the branch spread, or in accordance with an alternative
scheme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no construction materials or
articles of any description shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk
or hedgerow and such fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised
or lowered, or any trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.

17.

None of the trees or hedgerows shown on the approved plans as being retained shall be
felled, lopped or topped without the prior written consent of the Local Planning
Authority. Any retained trees or hedgerow plants which die or are severely damaged or
become seriously diseased within five years of the completion of the development shall be
replaced with trees or hedgerow plants of such size and species to be agreed in writing with
the Local Planning Authority, no later than the next planting season.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.
9.
10.
11.
12.
13.
14.
15.
16.
17.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
To ensure a satisfactory standard of development, in the interests of visual amenity.
To ensure a satisfactory standard of development, in the interests of visual amenity.
In order to ensure that trees and hedges to be retained are not damaged by building or
engineering works.
In the interests of visual amenity.
To provide for the parking of vehicles clear of the highway and to ensure that reversing by
vehicles into or from the highway is rendered unnecessary in the interest of traffic safety.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interests of nature conservation.
To protect the favourable conservation status of protected bat and bird species.
To ensure the favourable conservation status of protected bat species.
In order to protect ecological interests.
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and
safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.
To allow an adequate analytical record of the building to be made, before it is demolished, to
ensure that the buildings main features, character and state of preservation are recorded.
In the interests of visual amenity.
In order to protect existing trees and hedgerows, in the interest of visual amenity.
In the interests of visual and residential amenity

Page 79

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6
WARD :

Rhuddlan

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Ann Davies (c)
Cllr Arwel Roberts

APPLICATION NO:

44/2021/0163/ PO

PROPOSAL:

Development of 0.21 ha of land by the erection of 4 no. dwellings
and construction of access road (outline application including
access, appearance, layout and scale)

LOCATION:

Land at (Part garden of) The Rise Rhyl Road Rhuddlan Rhyl
LL18 2TL

Page 81

This page is intentionally left blank

50 m
100 ft

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
44/2021/0163
Scale: 1:2500
Printed on: 28/6/2021 at 7:05 AM

Page 83

© Denbighshire County Council

Page 84

Ridge Line
+6.000m

Dormer Ceiling
+4.935m

First Floor FFL
+2.575m

Page 85

Ground Floor Ceiling
+2.325m

Ground Floor FFL
External Level

+0.000m

+Varies

Proposed Front Elevation

Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Composite Cladding

Aluminium Curtain Walling

uPVC Windows/Doors

Roof Tile

Engineering Brick

The Building Plot
Wepre House Business Centre,
Ffordd yr Onnen, Lon Parcwr Business Park,
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Rise, Rhuddlan
Chrome Rainwater Goods

Drawing No.19.059.A104

Revision.P02
Date.10.05.21

Obscured Glazing

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Scale.1:50

Paper Size.A3

Entrance Canopy

Composite Clad uPVC Door

Proposed Elevation (1 of 4)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings refer
to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this
information.

Page 86

Ridge Line
+6.000m

Dormer Ceiling
+4.935m

First Floor FFL
+2.575m

Page 87

Ground Floor Ceiling
+2.325m

Ground Floor FFL
External Level

+0.000m

+Varies

Proposed Front Elevation

Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Composite Cladding

Aluminium Curtain Walling

uPVC Windows/Doors

Roof Tile

Engineering Brick

The Building Plot
Wepre House Business Centre,
Ffordd yr Onnen, Lon Parcwr Business Park,
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Rise, Rhuddlan
Chrome Rainwater Goods

Drawing No.19.059.A105

Revision.P02
Date.10.05.21

Obscured Glazing

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Scale.1:50

Paper Size.A3

Entrance Canopy

Composite Clad uPVC Door

Proposed Elevation (2 of 4)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings refer
to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this
information.

Page 88

Ridge Line
+6.000m

Dormer Ceiling
+4.935m

First Floor FFL
+2.575m

Page 89

Ground Floor Ceiling
+2.325m

Ground Floor FFL
+0.000m

External Level
+Varies

Proposed Side Elevation

Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Composite Cladding

Aluminium Curtain Walling

uPVC Windows/Doors

Roof Tile

Engineering Brick

The Building Plot
Wepre House Business Centre,
Ffordd yr Onnen, Lon Parcwr Business Park,
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Rise, Rhuddlan
Chrome Rainwater Goods

Drawing No.19.059.A106

Revision.P02
Date.10.05.21

Obscured Glazing

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Scale.1:50

Paper Size.A3

Entrance Canopy

Composite Clad uPVC Door

Proposed Elevation (3 of 4)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings refer
to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this
information.

Page 90

Ridge Line
+6.000m

Dormer Ceiling
+4.935m

First Floor FFL
+2.575m

Page 91

Ground Floor Ceiling
+2.325m

Ground Floor FFL
External Level

+0.000m

+Varies

Drawing Key

Through Colour Render

Composite Cladding

Aluminium Curtain Walling

uPVC Windows/Doors

Roof Tile

Engineering Brick

The Building Plot
Wepre House Business Centre,
Ffordd yr Onnen, Lon Parcwr Business Park,
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Rise, Rhuddlan
Chrome Rainwater Goods

Drawing No.19.059.A107

Revision.P02
Date.10.05.21

Obscured Glazing

Glazed Balastrade/Top Rail

Scale.1:50

Paper Size.A3

Entrance Canopy

Composite Clad uPVC Door

Proposed Elevation (4 of 4)
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any
discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings refer
to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this
information.

Page 92

1

1
11
+18.38m

Ridge Line
+24.64m

+18.92m
+18.65m

+19.00m
+19.65m
+19.91m

3

+19.88m

5
1

+20.14m

+18.79m

Ridge Line
+23.02m

12

12

7

+20.25m

1

+18.50m
Ridge Line
+22.69m

FFL +18.65m

+19.98m

+19.82m

FFL +20.61m
Ridge Line
+29.32m

+18.94m
+17.91m

5

13

15

18.9m

2

+19.93m

6

+20.25m

+19.75m

FFL +18.25m
Ridge Line
+24.65m

+17.78m

+19.99m

15

+17.50m

Ridge Line
+20.14m

+24.25m
+20.01m

Page 93

FFL +17.65m
Ridge Line
+23.95m
+17.50m
Ridge Line
+23.65m

+19.15m

14

17

FFL +17.95m

+17.45m

7
1

4
+20.25m

+19.06m

Ridge Line
+25.15m

+18.95m

8

9

+19.00m

8
15
10

+18.50m

+18.00m

5
1
+18.50m

OD

H
FA

01/

Existing property (The Rise).

Demolition of Building

02/

Existing driveway, parking are and turning head.

and/or vegetation/trees

03/

Demolition of existing garage.

04/

Existing access from adopted highway.

05/

Existing rear garden.

06/

Existing decking area.

07/

Existing gate access from adjacent property.

08/

Proposed detached dormer bungalow.

09/

Proposed detached double garage.

10/

Proposed single garage.

11/

Proposed access from existing adopted highway.

12/

Proposed private driveway.

13/

Proposed hammerhead/turning area for refuse/emergency vehicles.

14/

Proposed driveway.

discrepancies to the architects for rectification as soon as is practically possible. For building elements between drawings

15/

Proposed replanting/screening to perimeter of site.

The Building Plot are not responsible for the accuracy of this information.

Proposed Plot Boundary
Indicative Soakaway

Existing Driveway

+m

EL
YW

Proposed Lawn/Garden

Drawing Label Key

Existing Tree/Hedge

Existing Garden

Proposed Building

1

Existing Highway

Existing Fence/Boundary

Existing Site Level

Ridge Line
+23.84m

Ownership Boundary

Existing Buildings

N
RY
B
Y
ES
A
M

Ridge Line
+23.59m

2
1

Site Boundary (2230m²)

18.9m

Ridge Line
+23.89m

RH
E/

Drawing Key

+m

15

U
EN
AV
LL
WE

N

16

6

HO

Ridge Line
+24.66m

Indicative Proposed Drainage

Proposed Site Level
Sewer Location

Proposed Hardstanding
Proposed Trees (Replanting)

3m Easement to Sewer

The Building Plot
Unit 4, Ffordd yr Onnen
Lon Parcwr Industrial Estate
Ruthin, North Wales, LL15 1NJ

01824 562 017
mail@thebuildingplot.com
www.thebuildingplot.com

Project.The Rise, Rhuddlan
Drawing No.19.059.A004

Revision.P05

Scale.1:500

Date.10.05.21

Paper Size.A3

Proposed Site Plan
The contractor is requested to check the accuracy of the drawings and dimensions before work is put in hand and report any

refer to all applicable for clarification. If in doubt contact the Architect. Survey information provided by Land Survey Wales.

Page 94

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 95

The Site

Page 96

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 97

Access location

Page 98

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 99

Access location

Page 100

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 101

Site boundaries

Page 102

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 103

Site boundaries

Page 104

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 105

Site boundary and example of dormer bungalow in
area

Page 106

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 107

Character of area

Page 108

Eitem Agenda 6 / Agenda Item 6

Page 109

Character of area

Page 110

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhuddlan

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Ann Davies (c)
Cllr Arwel Roberts

APPLICATION NO:

44/2021/0163/ PO

PROPOSAL:

Development of 0.21 ha of land by the erection of 4 no. dwellings
and construction of access road (outline application including
access, appearance, layout and scale)

LOCATION:

Land at (Part garden of) The Rise Rhyl Road Rhuddlan Rhyl
LL18 2TL

APPLICANT:

Mr & Mrs C & J Roberts / Goodrick

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2




Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
Member request for referral to Committee

CONSULTATION RESPONSES (Listed for Original Consultation and Re-consultation):
RHUDDLAN TOWN COUNCIL
“Against. Members objected to this development as the development is for houses and
this is an area that is predominantly bungalows. There have been amendments to the
application but there is still issues with the height of the houses.”
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES –
No comment to make on the application.
DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER –
No objection, request that Condition and Advisory Notes provided are included within the
consent to ensure no detriment to existing residents or the environment and to Dwr Cymru
Welsh Water's assets. Condition proposed is to ensure details of foul water drainage scheme
as submitted for approval prior to commencement.
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
Traffic, Parking and Road Safety
- Highways Officer
Highways Officer therefore has no objection subject to the imposition of conditions to ensure
visibility splays are kept free of obstruction and to control the materials for the vehicular access
frontage.
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer – Site lies within the development boundary, and therefore
no objection subject to contribution to open space and affordable housing being secured.
Tree Specialist
No objection raised. A quality landscaping scheme including planting will be required as a
reserved matter to provide screening and provide replacement amenity.

Page 111

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY (Listed for Original Consultation and Re-consultation):
In objection
Representations received from:
Sheila Overthrow, 17, Fairlands Crescent, Rhuddlan
Dorothy Grey, 5 Maes Y Bryn, Rhuddlan
Kathleen Goodall, 2, Highlands Close, Rhuddlan
Janice Dymock, 6, Howell Avenue, Rhuddlan
Barbara Woolley, 9 Maes-y-Bryn, Rhuddlan
Paul Kenneth Roberts, 1, Highlands Close, Rhuddlan
D & A Jones, 3 Maes y Bryn, Rhuddlan
Paul Sellwood, 11 Highlands Road, Rhuddlan
Joanne Overthrow-Jones, 118 The Rowans, Rhuddlan Road, Rhyl
Linda Carr, 8, Howell Avenue, Rhuddlan
Sarah Ostanek, 3, Highlands Close, Rhuddlan
Francis Mary Rees-Williams, Bryn Cefni, 7 Maes Y Bryn, Rhuddlan
Dorothy Grey, 5 Maes y Bryn, Rhuddlan
Francis Mary Rees-Williams, Bryn Cefni Rhuddlan
Summary of planning based representations in objection
Visual amenity impacts:
- Out of scale with surrounding properties.
- Design not in-keeping with the area.
Residential amenity impacts:
- Adverse impact on visual amenity enjoyed by neighbouring properties.
- Adverse impact on amenity of neighbours during construction (noise and construction
disturbance).
Highways
- Highways safety- increase in traffic on access road and in the vicinity.
Biodiversity impacts:
- Loss of trees/habitat would adversely impact on area/biodiversity.
Quality of application:
- DAS should have been submitted to demonstrate evolution of design etc.

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 02/05/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 16/07/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):



re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information
awaiting consideration by Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 Outline planning permission is sought for the development of 0.21 hectares of land by
the erection of 4 dwellings and construction of access road on land at The Rise, Rhyl
Road, Rhuddlan. The application includes access, appearance layout and scale with
only landscaping reserved for future approval.

Page 112

1.1.2

The site layout shows a development comprising of dormer bungalows. The dwellings
would be sited on the four quadrants of the site fronting an access road. Each would
be provided with a small front and larger rear garden, with parking proposed on
hardstanding’s to the side of the dwellings.
Site plan below:

1.1.3

Four identical four bedroom dormer bungalows are proposed, with a render and
feature cladding finish. Each dwelling would have a garage to the rear, with plots 2
and 3 having a semi-detached garage.

1.1.4

The dwellings would have a footprint measuring 9 metres by 9.4 metres with an
overall height of 6 metres.
See front and rear (with dormer) elevations detail below:

1.1.5

The access road runs from the north east of the site (off Highlands Close) along the
northern side of the dwelling ‘The Rise’ and enters the site on its northern boundary, a
hammerhead is proposed mid-way for turning. Dwellings 1-3 have 3 parking spaces
with 2 proposed for dwelling 4.

1.1.6

To facilitate the access to the residential development in the rear garden area of The
Rise it is proposed to demolish an existing single storey garage. As a result the
northern side elevation of The Rise would become exposed on which there is a small
doorway and obscured window. Plans indicate that the northern site boundary will
retain the majority of its vegetation as opposed to having a hard boundary treatment.

1.1.7

Whilst landscaping is a reserved matter, a tree report has been submitted in support
of the application and indicative plans have been provided showing existing site
boundaries and landscaping to the west, north and south retained.

Page 113

1.1.8

Foul drainage is proposed to discharge to the public sewer and surface water would
discharge to onsite soakaways.

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 Illustrative sections through the site to demonstrate the relationship between the
proposed dwellings and the existing dwellings on the neighbouring streets have been
provided.
See Site Sections below (copied from Agents drawing as available on the councils website):
D/H on Howell Ave

Proposed Development

The Rise

Proposed Development

The Rise

Howell Ave

Eastern end of site Maes Y Bryn

Proposed Development

Highlands Road

Western end of site Maes Y Bryn

Proposed Development

Highlands Road

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The application site is part of the rear garden of ‘The Rise’ possibly originally intended
to be an orchard to the house, but now forming a large landscaped curtilage area to
the dwelling.
1.3.2

The Rise is a substantial (6 bed) two storey dwelling of mid-20th Century origin sited
amongst a mix of 1960’s style dwellings which form a residential area on the fringe of
Rhuddlan town centre.

1.3.3

The rear garden area of The Rise is bounded by three streets (Highlands Road,
Howell Avenue and Maes Y Bryn) on which there are bungalows and dormer
bungalows. The application site lies at a slightly lower level than both The Rise and
the dwellings in Maes-Y-Bryn.

1.3.4

The site is accessed off Highlands Close which meets Highlands Road to the north
and feeds on to the A547 to the east. The A547 runs north towards Rhyl and south

Page 114

towards the roundabout at the intersection of the A547 (east to Prestatyn) and the
A5151 (south east) to Dyserth and Rhyl Road (west to Rhuddlan town centre).
1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhuddlan.
1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 Planning permission was sought in 2020 for the development of the site for residential
purposes for 4 two storey dwellings, this permission was resisted by the Council for
two reasons; relating to the character and appearance of the surrounding area, and
the impacts on the local housing stock with regard to the size and type of dwellings.
1.5.2

The decision was appealed but dismissed by the Planning Inspectorate. However
whilst there were two reasons for refusal, the Inspector concluded that the main issue
was the impact of a two storey development on the character and appearance of the
area only.

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Having considered the original re-submission Officers raised some concerns over the
detailing of the scheme and Highways matters.
1.6.2

Amended plans and a Highways Technical Advice Note undertaken by Consultants
SCP was submitted to address these concerns in May 2021.

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 None.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 44/2020/0168 Development of 0.21 ha of land by the erection of 4 no. dwellings and
construction of access road (outline application including access and layout). Refused on the
21/07/2020 for the following reasons:
1.
It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that the scale and layout of the
proposed dwellings would appear over dominant and out of keeping with the
character of the immediate area which is predominantly bungalows and dormer style
dwellings. The proposal is therefore considered to be in conflict with criteria i) of
Policy RD1 in the Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and advice as contained in
SPG Residential Development and Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10).
2.

It is the opinion of the Local Planning Authority that the proposed development of 4
bedroom dwellings does not reflect the housing need in the area as identified in the
Local Housing Market Assessment (July 2019). The proposal is therefore considered
to be in conflict with Policy BSC1 in the Denbighshire Local Development Plan and
advice contained in Planning Policy Wales (Edition 10).

2.2 Appeal Decision APP/R6830/A/20/3256788 02/11/2020. Appeal Dismissed with the following
Inspectors conclusion:
“I have found that the mix of house types proposed would not be so out of step with local
need and demand as to be unacceptable in this location. The proposed dwellings would,
however, be harmfully uncharacteristic of the immediate area by reason of their size and
scale. This is reason in itself to refuse the appeal.”

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design

Page 115

Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development
Policy BSC4 – Affordable Housing
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space
Policy VOE1 - Key areas of importance
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy ASA1 – New transport infrastructure
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
Technical Advice Notes
TAN 12 Design (2016)
TAN 18 Transport (2007)
3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6
4.1.7
4.1.8
4.1.9

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Ecology
Drainage (including flooding)
Highways (including access and parking)
Affordable Housing
Open Space
Density of development

Page 116

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
The main Local Development Plan Policy relevant to the principle of the development
is Policy BSC 1. This policy seeks to make provision for new housing in a range of
locations, concentrating development within development boundaries of towns and
villages. It encourages provision of a range of house sizes, types and tenure to reflect
local need and demand and the Local Housing market assessment.
The site is located within the development boundary of Rhuddlan which is defined as
a lower growth town in the LDP.
The principle of housing development is therefore considered acceptable and Officers
would suggest the acceptability of the particular proposals therefore has to rest on
assessment of the local impacts, which are reviewed within the following sections of
the report.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (iv) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
Objections have been received from the Community Council and members of the
public on visual amenity grounds, and have questioned if the height / size of the
dwellings proposed is appropriate for the site.
The site is situated within the settlement of Rhuddlan, in the rear curtilage of an
existing two storey dwelling. The surrounding dwellings are mainly bungalows with
some dormer style dwellings. The previous proposal was refused on scale and
character grounds and the current application is an amended scheme. The refused
scheme was for four full two storey substantial sizes dwellings.
There is a mix of development in Rhuddlan generally, and whilst there is no uniform
housing type in the area, the dwellings in the immediate vicinity of the site are mainly
bungalows with a mix of red brick and rendered walls with slate and tiles roofs. The
Rise is the exception however it has been demonstrated that its uniqueness does not
warrant a difference design approach (particularly in relation to scale) to be taken at
the rear of the site.
The height of the proposed dwellings has been scaled down from the previous
application and appeal, with the reduction in height of between 1.5 to 2 metres to the
proposed 6 metre dormer bungalows now under consideration. This amendment
combined with the site levels, would enable the proposed better reflect the character
and pattern of development in the immediate area. The more contemporary design
and materials proposed are not considered inappropriate on the site.
The site is an attractive landscaped garden area to the Rise. The plans show some
landscaping retained on the site boundaries as well as to the front of the dwelling,
however precise details of landscaping, planting and boundary treatments have not
been specified. The Tree Officer has considered the Tree Report submitted in support

Page 117

of the application and accepts that the trees on the site provide some amenity value
to the surrounding dwellings but not enough to justify a TPO owing to the limited
benefits and the condition of several of the trees. The trees that afford the greatest
degree of amenity in the wider area are on to the front of the Rise and these will be
kept, as the proposed access would be to the north of the site frontage. Officers
consider details of landscaping and boundary treatments can be controlled in the
subsequent reserved matters application.
Having regard to the scale, design, form, massing and materials, Officers consider
that the amended plans have sufficiently overcome the previous reasons for refusal.
Therefore, having regard to the proposal, the locality and landscape, it is considered
the proposals would not have an unacceptable impact on visual amenity and would
therefore be in general compliance with the tests in the policies referred to.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; and test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc. and that it provides a satisfactory amenity
standards itself.
Objections have been received from residents concerning the on the dwellings on all
sides of the application site, relating to overlooking and loss of amenity.
The Residential Development SPG provides guidance on acceptable separation
distances to protect neighbouring properties from overlooking, overshadowing and
overbearing impact. The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75%
of a residential property should be covered by buildings. The Residential Space
Standards SPG specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity space should be
provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings.
Whilst the proposal may affect the outlook from dwellings to the north and west
on Highlands Road and Howell Avenue, given the siting of the proposed dwellings
and the presence of the dormers on the south roof planes, there would be no
significant overlooking or over bearing impacts on these dwellings.
The dwellings fronting Tan Y Maes to the south of the site, could potentially be
impacted the most as a result of the proposal. Residents here fear there would be
overlooking from the dormers in the proposed dwellings into the rear of their dwellings
and rear garden areas.
Officers have raised the concerns over the potential for overlooking from the dormer
windows with the Agent who has submitted a plan labelled ‘interface diagram’ to show
21 metre arc’s from the rear of the dwellings to the proposed development. It is noted
that the interface drawing shows the ‘original’ rear elevations, not any additions or
conservatories. On plan there appears to be between 20 and 21 metres separation
elevation to elevation between each dwelling. Acknowledging that that SPG states
‘best practice’ for rear elevation to rear elevation separation distances is 21 metres
Officers consider it would be difficult to resist the application for this reason alone.
In terms of amenity requirements for the proposed dwellings themselves, the internal
floor space well exceeds the minimum requirements for 4 bedroom dwellings as
prescribed in the Residential Space Standards SPG. The rear garden areas have a
depth of 9 to 11 metres and there is further garden / outdoor amenity area to the front
and side of the dwellings proposed which well exceeds 40sq.m and therefore

Page 118

adequate garden space has been provided. There would also be adequate amenity
space remaining for the original dwelling at The Rise.
Having regard to the above, on balance Officers would conclude the proposal would
not adversely impact on residential amenity of neighbours and the proposal would
provide a satisfactory standard of amenity itself.

4.2.4

Ecology
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (iii) requires development to protect and
where possible to enhance the local natural and historic environment. Policy VOE 5
requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or designated
sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests that
permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant harm
to such interests. This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (Section
5.2) current legislation and SPG 18 – Nature Conservation and Species Protection,
which stress the importance of the planning system in meeting biodiversity objectives
through promoting approaches to development which create new opportunities to
enhance biodiversity, prevent biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where
damage is unavoidable.
Whilst some trees would be lost to facilitate the development. No specific ecological
issues have been raised on the site. Therefore subject to the detailing of the reserved
matters relating to landscaping, it is suggested ecological interests
(trees/landscaping) can be suitably protected in relation to a development on this site.

4.2.5

Drainage (including flooding)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (xi) requires that development satisfies
physical or natural environmental considerations relating to drainage and liability to
flooding.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing
development, both as a water service and because of the consequential
environmental and amenity impacts associated with a lack of capacity’.
The drainage / flooding impacts of a development proposal are a material
consideration.
There are local representations raising drainage related concerns.
It is proposed to connect to the main foul sewer, there have been no issues raised
over capacity. Natural Resources Wales (NRW) and Dwr Cymru Welsh Water
(DCWW) have been consulted and have not raised any significant objections to the
proposal subject to the inclusion of suitable conditions being imposed if planning
permission is granted.
In relation to surface water drainage, should planning permission were to be granted,
the applicant would be made aware of the requirement for the consent of the SuDS
Approval Body (SAB) in relation to surface water drainage, prior to the
commencement of development. This process sits outside of and separate to the
planning process, but is held in planning appeals to be sufficient to ensure that
surface water drainage issues are dealt with appropriately.
Given the comments of the technical consultees and the existence of separate
legislation, it is considered reasonable to assume that an acceptable drainage
scheme can be achieved on the site. It is considered appropriate to secure the
provision of an appropriate drainage scheme through condition. The proposals are
therefore considered acceptable in relation to drainage.

Page 119

4.2.6

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards. The Parking Standards in New Developments
SPG sets out the maximum parking standards for new developments
These policies reflect general principles set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 10)
and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of sustainable development.
The Development Management Manual advises at paragraph 9.4.3 that material
considerations must be fairly and reasonably related to the development concerned,
and can include the number, size, layout, design and appearance of buildings, the
means of access, landscaping, service availability and the impact on the
neighbourhood and on the environment; and the effects of a development on, for
example, health, public safety and crime. The highway impacts of development
should therefore be regarded as a potential material consideration.
There are local representations raising concerns in respect of increased traffic within
the area.
Onsite parking is shown on the driveways to the side of the dwellings, and each
dwelling would also have a garage.
The means of access to the site is included for approval as part of this outline
application. The Highway Officer requested additional detail and proof that the site
could be access and adequate road widths achieved. Highways Officers have taken
into consideration the capacity of the existing highway network, site access and site
layout and raised no objection to the scheme. Conditions are suggested to control the
detail of the access point onto Highways Road, drainage and construction
management.
On the basis of the plans submitted, it is considered that the proposal would not have
an unacceptable impact upon the safe a free flow of traffic on the public highway
subject to the inclusion of conditions on any planning permission.

4.2.7

Affordable Housing
Policy BSC 1 of the Local Development Plan states that developers will be expected
to provide a range of house sizes, types and tenures to reflect local need and
demand.
Policy BSC3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute where relevant to the provision of infrastructure including
affordable housing, in line with Policy BSC4.
Policy BSC 4 seeks to ensure, where relevant, 10% affordable housing either on site
on developments of 10 or more residential units or by way of a financial contribution
on development of less than 10 residential units.
There is detailed guidance in the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance on the approach to provision and demand.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 4.2.25 states that a community’s need for
affordable housing is a material planning considerations which must be taken into
account in formulating development plan policies and the determination of planning
applications. It states that where development plan policies make clear that an

Page 120

element of affordable housing is required on specific sites, this will be a material
consideration.
There is an established need for affordable housing throughout Denbighshire,
including Rhuddlan. The formula for calculating the level of the contribution is set out
in SPG Affordable Housing and is based on floor space of each unit proposed. Based
on the plans provided the financial contribution required would be in the order of
£52,168.52. This would need to be secured by way of a suitable agreement, should
permission be granted.

4.2.8

Open Space
Policy BSC 3 of the Local Development Plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, including
recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate
provision for recreation and open space. All such schemes put increased demand on
existing open spaces and facilities and therefore the policy applies to all
developments including single dwellings. Table 4 in the Open Space SPG (adopted
March 2017) sets out thresholds for on-site provision and financial contributions. It
specifies that for schemes of 1 – 30 dwellings, open space obligations should be met
through financial contributions rather than onsite provision, however 5.4.9 of the SPG
does state that the thresholds are indicative, and onsite provision for sites of less than
30 will be considered on their merits.
For developments of fewer than 30 dwellings, LDP policy BSC 11 ‘Recreation and
Open Space’ and Supplementary Planning Guidance ‘Recreational Public Open
Space’ allows the provision of a financial contribution towards public open space.
Using the Council’s Open Space Calculator, a development of 4 dwellings would
require a contribution of £4948.86 towards the provision of off-site open space. This
would need to be secured by way of a suitable agreement, should permission be
granted.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The site lies within the Rhuddlan development boundary and therefore the proposal is
acceptable in principle.
5.2 The previous application was refused and the subsequent appeal dismissed on visual
amenity grounds due to scale and design of the two storey dwellings previously proposed.
Officers consider the amendments made are sufficient to overcome the previous reason for

Page 121

refusal, and therefore consider the proposal would no longer give rise to unacceptable
impacts on visual amenity.
5.3 As the proposal is for four new dwellings, a financial contribution would be required towards
open space provision in the community and affordable housing. Subject to the necessary
financial contributions being secured, and necessary conditions being imposed, the proposal
is considered to be acceptable and is recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

Approval of the details of the landscaping (hereinafter called ""the reserved matters"") shall be
obtained from the Local Planning Authority in writing before the commencement of any
development.

2.

Application for approval of the reserved matters shall be made to the Local Planning Authority
before the expiration of three years from the date of this permission.

3.

The development hereby permitted shall be begun either before the expiration of five years
from the date of this permission, or before the expiration of two years from the date of
approval of the last of the reserved matters to be approved, whichever is the later.

4.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Proposed elevation 1 of 4 (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A104 P02) received 17 May 2021
(ii) Proposed elevation 2 of 4 (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A105 P02) received 17 May 2021
(iii) Proposed elevation 3 of 4 (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A106 P02) received 17 May 2021
(iv) Proposed elevation 4 of 4 (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A107 P02) received 17 May 2021
(v) Proposed ground floor plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A101 P02) received 17 May 2021
(vi) Proposed first floor plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A102 P02) received 17 May 2021
(vii) Proposed roof plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A103 P02) received 17 May 2021
(viii) Proposed single garage elevations (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A204 P01) received 19
February 2021
(ix) Proposed single garage plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A203 P01) received 19 February
2021
(x) Proposed double garage elevations (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A202 P01) received 19
February 2021
(xi) Proposed double garage plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A201 P01) received 19
February 2021
(xii) Existing and proposed long site sections (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A005 P04) received
17 May 2021
(xiii) Existing and proposed short site sections (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A006 P01) received
17 May 2021
(xiv) Existing site plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A003 P03) received 17 May 2021
(xv) Proposed site plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A004 P05) received 17 May 2021
(xvi) Existing site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A001 P02) received 17 May 2021
(xvii) Proposed site location plan (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A002 P03) received 17 May
2021
(xviii) Topographical survey (Drawing No. 1) received 19 February 2021
(xix) Tree Report received 8 March 2021
(xx) Proposed interface diagram (Drawing No. TBP_19.059_A007 P01) received 17 May 2021
(xxi) SCP Technical Note May 2021 received 13 May 2021

5.

Prior to the application of any external materials to the dwellings hereby approved, full details
of the wall and roof materials, including materials, colour and finish, shall be submitted to and
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The development shall be carried out in
accordance with the approved details.

Page 122

6.

No development shall take place until a Construction Method Statement has been submitted
to, and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved Statement shall be
adhered to throughout the construction period. The Statement shall provide for:
Site compound location
Traffic management scheme
The parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
Loading and unloading of plant and materials;
Storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development;
The management and operation of construction vehicles and the construction vehicle
routes
wheel washing facilities;
Measures to control the emission of dust and dirt during construction;

7.

No development shall be permitted to commence on the highways without the written
approval of the Local Planning Authority to the detailed design of tie-in works to the existing
adopted carriageway and footway on Highland Close. The approved arrangements shall be
completed prior to the commencement of the use hereby permitted.

8.

No development shall be permitted to commence on the access without the written approval
of the Local Planning Authority to proposals for preventing the run-off of surface water from
the site onto the highway. The approved arrangements shall be completed prior to the
bringing into use of the access.

9.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
No development shall commence until a foul water drainage scheme for the site has been
submitted to and approved in writing by the local planning authority. The scheme shall provide
for the disposal of foul water flows and thereafter implemented in accordance with the
approved details prior to the occupation of the development.

10.

All trees and hedges to be retained as part of the development hereby permitted shall be
protected during site clearance and construction work by 1 metre high fencing erected 1
metre outside the outermost limits of the branch spread, or in accordance with an alternative
scheme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no construction materials or
articles of any description shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk
or hedgerow and such fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised
or lowered, or any trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority.

11.

None of the trees or hedgerows shown on the approved plans as being retained shall be
felled, lopped or topped without the prior written consent of the Local Planning Authority. Any
retained trees or hedgerow plants which die or are severely damaged or become seriously
diseased within five years of the completion of the development shall be replaced with trees
or hedgerow plants of such size and species to be agreed in writing with the Local Planning
Authority, no later than the next planting season.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.
5.
6.
7.
8.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
To comply with the provisions of Section 92 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interest of the free and safe movement and traffic on the adjacent highway and to
ensure the formation of a safe and satisfactory access.
In the interest of the free and safe movement and traffic on the adjacent highway and to
ensure the formation of a safe and satisfactory access.
In the interest of the free and safe movement and traffic on the adjacent highway and to
ensure the formation of a safe and satisfactory access.

Page 123

9.
10.
11.

To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and
safety of existing residents and ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interest of visual amenity.

Page 124

Agenda Item 7
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2018/1215/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of 109 dwellings and associated works (Phase 5)

LOCATION:

Land at Rhyl South East between Bro Deg and Dyserth Road
Rhyl

Page 125

This page is intentionally left blank

50 m
100 ft

© Crown copyright and database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
45/2021/1215
Scale: 1:2500
Printed on: 28/6/2021 at 7:16 AM

Page 127

© Denbighshire County Council

Page 128

Page 129

Page 130

Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

Page 131

The Site

Page 132

Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

Page 133

The site

Page 134

Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

Page 135

Existing development style

Page 136

Eitem Agenda 7 / Agenda Item 7

Page 137

Access point

Page 138

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2018/1215/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of 109 dwellings and associated works (Phase 5)

LOCATION:

Land at Rhyl South East between Bro Deg and Dyserth Road
Rhyl

APPLICANT:

Anwyl Homes

CONSTRAINTS:

None

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - Yes
Press Notice - Yes
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2



Recommendation to grant / approve – 4 or more objections received
Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection

CONSULTATION RESPONSES (Listed for Original Consultation and Re-consultation):
CITY/TOWN/COMMUNITY COUNCIL
“Objection unless the following are met:
- Clear provision within any consent indicating when the community benefits including open
space, community centre and new school required under Planning Application No.
45/2004/1376/PO will be delivered for the benefit of existing and future occupiers of the earlier
and currently proposed development.
- That no additional construction can be supported by the Council until the current traffic issues
affecting the B5119 “Dyserth Bends” have been addressed prior to the occupation of any new
dwellings for the benefit of proposed occupiers and the wider Rhyl community.
- Any approval to include provision of access to local bus routes to serve the development
including the provision of bus stops/shelters for the benefit of occupiers and to be provided by
the developer.
- a new ecology report as requested by Natural Resources Wales be received and approved
- Fire and rescue concerns be addressed relating to the provision of sufficient water hydrants’
to ensure the safety of the existing and future residents.”
CLWYDIAN RANGE AND DEE VALLEY AREA OF OUTSTANDING NATURAL BEAUTY
JOINT ADVISORY COMMITTEE
“The Joint Committee notes the small increase in the number of dwellings and welcomes the
intention to retain the previously revised landscaping proposals which include a traditional
hedge to fully enclose the site and additional hedgerow tree planting. These measures will help
break up and soften middle distance views of the site from the higher ground of the AONB.”
NATURAL RESOURCES WALES
NRW have concerns however these could be mitigated by the imposition of planning conditions
relating to the submission and implementation of an Ecological Compliance Audit Scheme and
Biosecurity Risk Assessment, and the development being carried out in accordance with the
Addendum to the Ecological Report submitted in support of the planning application.

Page 139

DWR CYMRU / WELSH WATER
No objection, subject to the development being carried out in accordance with the revised
plans.
NORTH WALES COUNCILS REGIONAL EMERGENCY PLANNING SERVICE
No objection in principle, recommend standard advice.
NORTH WALES FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE
No objection in principle, recommendations made regarding road width and hydrant locations.
DENBIGHSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL CONSULTEES –
- Highways Officer
Verbally advised of no objection, formal response awaited.
- Footpaths Officer
No objection in principle. However Public Rights of Way cross the site and a formal
diversion application is required, and is currently being processed.
Strategic Housing & Policy Officer
No objection in principle, application requires compliance with affordable housing, open space
and education polices.
Ecologist
No objection to initial consultation subject to conditions. Consultation response awaited for
most recent information.

RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Amanda Mathie, 8 Rhodfa Logan, Rhyl
Gavin Roberts, 10 Rhodfa Logan, Rhyl
Chantal Roberts, 10 Rhodfa Logan, Rhyl
Luke France, 11 Rhodfa Logan
Leighton Howell, 14 Rhodfa Logan, Rhyl
E. Crowe, 3, Maes Maenefa, Rhyl
Sara Wildman, 17 Maes Maenefa, Rhyl
Stevie Davies, 58 Ffordd Aberkinsey, Rhyl
Jamie Ashton, 62 Ffordd Aberkinsey, Rhyl
Glyn Roberts, 3, Ffordd Elsie, Rhyl
Chris Williams, 16, Ffordd Elsie, Rhyl
Kathlyn Williams, 16, Ffordd Elsie, Rhyl
Samantha Hannen, 18, Ffordd Elsie, Rhyl
Mark Roberts, 124 Dyserth Road, Rhyl
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Residential amenity impacts- Adverse impact on amenity enjoyed by neighbouring properties.
Highways safety - Increase in traffic on access road and in the vicinity.
Biodiversity impacts - Loss of agricultural land and Great Crested Newt habitat would adversely
impact on biodiversity.
Drainage - Proposal would exacerbate flooding/drainage issues.
Need - Capacity within existing housing development at Aberkinsey
Education/Services - Schools and services locally are at capacity.

Page 140

Welsh Language - Proposal would result in influx of English speaking occupants eroding Welsh
language.

EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 17/06/2021
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 17/07/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):




protracted negotiations resulting in amended plans
re-consultations / further publicity necessary on amended plans and / or additional
information
awaiting consideration by Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The application is for full planning permission for residential development of land and
associated works forming Phase 5 of Aberkinsey, Rhyl South East.
1.1.2

Plans show 109 dwellings proposed on the 3.57 hectare site. The arrangement of the
dwellings along a main arterial road linking off Bro Deg with cul de sacs can be seen
on the plan at the front of the report.

1.1.3

The housing development proposed includes:

8 no. one bedroom open market apartments;

10 no. two bedroom open market houses;

46 no. three bedroom open market houses;

34 no. four bedroom open market houses;

1 no. one bedroom affordable apartment;

3 no. two bedroom affordable houses; and

1 no. three bedroom affordable apartment;

6 no. three bedroom affordable houses.

1.1.4

There would be 15 different house types, ranging from detached to semi-detached
units, with a small terrace of 8 units in the north western corner of the site. Plans
show the dwellings to be of relatively similar designs to the existing Aberkinsey
development, and finished in materials of brick and render with tiled roofs.

1.1.5

As mentioned above the access to the development is proposed off two points on Bro
Deg which runs through the existing Aberkinsey development. There would be
pedestrian links through to the West of the site to Maes Manefa and to the Public
Rights of Way to the South of the site into the adjacent fields.

1.1.6

In relation to landscaping, detailed proposals have been provided with planting
specifications. A hedge with specimen trees is proposed along the southern boundary
of the site alongside the adjoining agricultural land. In relation to hard landscaping
and boundary treatments, all properties would have paved parking areas with
screening along most boundaries between rear gardens and on corner plots

1.1.7

Open space is located on both East and West sides of the site, with 0.36 hectares of
public open space in total. Plans show 0.19 hectares of LEAP (Local Equipped Area
for Play) to be provided on the Western portion of open space within the site.

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application included a Design and Access statement and subsequent updates
which set out the position of the applicant in relation to planning policy matters
including information relating to Affordable Housing, Open Space, Education, Housing

Page 141

Mix and Market demand. A Drainage Strategy Report and Flood Consequences
Assessment, Tree Survey, Ecological Report (with Updates) and a Transport
Assessment (with Updates) have also been submitted in support of the scheme.
1.2.2

In order to accommodate the proposed development a Footpath diversion is being
sought for the existing Public Rights of Way that currently cross the site. As noted by
the Highways Officers responsible for Rights of Way this process has commenced,
but runs independently to the planning process.

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site comprises of fairly level open agricultural land located on the eastern edge of
the settlement of Rhyl.
1.3.2

The site is bounded to the north by the existing Aberkinsey residential development,
to the west by dwellings on Maes Manefa and to the south by open fields.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl.
1.4.2

It is an allocated site for housing development under policy BSC 1 in the Local
Development Plan.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 There is no planning history on this part of the site, however clearly there is
substantial history on the wider Aberkinsey development.
1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Since the submission of the original application in 2018 amendments and clarification
of some issues raised by consultees were sought in relation to the detailing of the
scheme.
1.6.2

Highways matters linked to earlier phases of Aberkinsey were investigated by the
Applicants Highways Consultants as the requirement for the signalised junction at
Pen Y Maes Avenue and Dyserth Road (onto which Bro Deg feeds) has now been
deemed unnecessary and the original Section 106 obligation linked to earlier phases
of Aberkinsey is currently being updated. The report to inform this decision took into
account the traffic associated with the original development and this proposal.
Highways Officers have accepted this report and it has been discussed with Local
Members and Residents under separate cover.

1.6.3

Members should note that the requirements of the earlier phases of Aberkinsey
relating to education remain outstanding. In respect of this issue Officers from the
Education Section have advised that:
The planning approval for application 45/2004/1376 provided the Council with an
option to purchase land from the developer at market value for the provision of a
school and community centre prior to the occupation of the 150th dwelling.
To date the Council has not exercised this right and have discussed with the
developer the long term position with regard to demand for school places and the
progress of the 21st Century Schools Programme, the main funding stream for school
buildings. This included amending the original Section 106 to reflect this position.
The revised Strategic Outline Programme for Band B of 21st Century Schools as
approved by Cabinet in September 2020 includes a potential primary school project in
Rhyl. Discussions will be held over the coming months regarding the scope for
progression of investment for this project and the option of this site will be considered
as part of this process.

1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 None.
2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:

Page 142

2.1 None.

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy RD5 – The Welsh language and the social and cultural fabric of communities
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC3 – Securing infrastructure contributions from Development
Policy BSC4 – Affordable Housing
Policy BSC11 – Recreation and open space
Policy VOE1 - Key areas of importance
Policy VOE5 – Conservation of natural resources
Policy ASA1 – New transport infrastructure
Policy ASA2 – Provision of sustainable transport facilities
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Affordable Housing
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Conservation and Enhancement of Biodiversity
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Parking Requirements In New Developments
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning Obligations
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Planning and the Welsh language
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Recreational Public Open Space
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development Design Guide
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Trees & Landscaping
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
Technical Advice Notes
TAN 2 Planning and Affordable Housing (2006)
TAN 5 Nature Conservation and Planning (2009)
TAN 18 Transport (2007)
TAN 20 Planning and the Welsh Language (2017)
3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.

Page 143

The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5
4.1.6
4.1.7
4.1.8
4.1.9
4.1.10
4.1.11

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Ecology
Drainage (including flooding)
Highways (including access and parking)
Affordable Housing
Open Space
Density of development/ Housing Mix
Education
Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Policy BSC 1 states that new housing within the county is required to meet the needs
of local communities and to meet projected population changes. In order to meet
these needs the Local Development Plan has made provision for approximately 7,500
homes up to 2021.
The application proposes the development of 109 dwellings. The site is located within
the development boundary of Rhyl and is an allocated housing site for 100 dwellings.
In acknowledging concerns over the need for the development, and the Town
Councils comments that development should not be permitted until the existing
Aberkinsey site is completed and all expected community benefits are in place, it has
to be recognised that the site is allocated in the adopted Development Plan for
housing purposes and it has to be dealt with on its own merits.
It should also be noted that the Denbighshire County Council Corporate Plan (20172022) commits the Council to supporting the development of 1000 homes in the
county. This proposal would make a positive contribution to meeting that target.
It is considered that the principle of developing this allocated housing site within the
development boundary is acceptable, and the determination of the application should
rest primarily on the assessment of the local impacts of the proposal.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (iv) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
The site is situated within the development boundary of Rhyl, adjacent to a recently
constructed housing site. The surrounding dwellings are a mix of modern brick and
render properties with tiled roofs and older 1980/70’s housing to the west.

Page 144

In terms of design and detailing for the proposed dwellings, the proposed residential
development involves use of several different house types with pitched tiled roofs of a
relatively similar scale, utilising materials of brickwork and render.
Although the site is not located with the AONB or any landscape designation, the
AONB JAC have commented on the application stating the landscaping/screening is
welcomed to soften longer range view of this edge of settlement site.
Officers consider the proposal is acceptable and in keeping with surrounding
development. It would therefore be in general compliance with the tests in the policies
referred to.
4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; and test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc. and that it provides a satisfactory amenity
standards itself.
Objections have been received from residents concerning relating to overlooking and
loss of amenity.
The Residential Development SPG provides guidance on acceptable separation
distances to protect neighbouring properties from overlooking, overshadowing and
overbearing impact. The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75%
of a residential property should be covered by buildings. The Residential Space
Standards SPG specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity space should be
provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings.
The majority of dwellings on the site have been provided with some amenity space,
with most achieving the minimum standard. It is noted that the smaller units with less
space are located adjacent to an area fronting part of the public open space on the
North West of the site. Siting and separation distances are similar to the existing
residential development at Aberkinsey, and most of the dwellings achieve best
practice back to back/side distances or are offset slightly where they have been sited
slightly closer. Whilst respecting the comments of the neighbouring occupiers, on the
northern boundaries of the site in relation to their expectations to retain an outlook or
a view of the adjacent open countryside, the right to a view is not a material planning
consideration and the site has been allocated for housing since June 2013.
Having regard to the above, on balance Officers conclude the proposal would not
adversely impact on residential amenity of neighbours and the proposal would provide
a satisfactory standard of amenity itself.

4.2.4

Ecology
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (iii) requires development to protect and
where possible to enhance the local natural and historic environment.
Policy VOE 5 requires due assessment of potential impacts on protected species or
designated sites of nature conservation, including mitigation proposals, and suggests
that permission should not be granted where proposals are likely to cause significant
harm to such interests.
This reflects policy and guidance in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.4
‘Biodiversity and Ecological Networks’, current legislation and the Conservation and
Enhancement of Biodiversity SPG, which stress the importance of the planning
system in meeting biodiversity objectives through promoting approaches to

Page 145

development which create new opportunities to enhance biodiversity, prevent
biodiversity losses, or compensate for losses where damage is unavoidable.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) sets out that “planning authorities must seek to
maintain and enhance biodiversity in the exercise of their functions. This means that
development should not cause any significant loss of habitats or populations of
species, locally or nationally and must provide a net benefit for biodiversity” (Section
6.4.5). PPW also draws attention to the contents of Section 6 of the Environment
(Wales) Act 2016, which sets a duty on Local Planning Authorities to demonstrate
they have taken all reasonable steps to maintain and enhance biodiversity in the
exercise of their functions. It is important that biodiversity and resilience
considerations are taken into account at an early stage when considering
development proposals (Section 6.4.4).
An Ecological Report and Update has been carried out on the site as there are known
record of Great Crested Newts in the area. The developers have an extant European
Protected Species (EPS) License for carrying out work in the area (including this part
of the site). The License has been obtained from NRW.
NRW have not objected to the principle of the development, and note the existence of
the Licence, however they are seeking further information specifically for this site by
condition i.e. the submission and implementation of an Ecological Compliance Audit
Scheme and Biosecurity Risk Assessment.
Biodiversity Enhancements have been set out in a document attached to the planning
application. This is currently under review by the Councils Ecologist, if any additional
comments or conditions are required these will be reported to Committee in the
addendum report.

4.2.5

Drainage (including flooding)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (xi) requires that development satisfies
physical or natural environmental considerations relating to drainage and liability to
flooding.
Planning Policy Wales confirms that factors to be taken into account in making
planning decisions (material considerations) must be planning matters; that is, they
must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in the public
interest, towards the goal of sustainability. The drainage / flooding impacts of a
development proposal are a material consideration.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 6.6.9 states ‘The adequacy of water supply
and the sewage infrastructure should be fully considered when proposing
development, both as a water service and because of the consequential
environmental and amenity impacts associated with a lack of capacity’.
The site is not located in an area designated to be at risk from flooding. The Welsh
Government Development Advice Map shows that the site is located within Flood
Zone A, an area considered to be at little or no risk of fluvial or tidal flooding, with a
less than 0.1% (1 in 1000) annual probability of flooding.
A Drainage Strategy has been submitted in support of the scheme and an indication
that Surface Water will be accommodated through appropriate Suds infrastructure.
NWR and Welsh Water have been consulted on the application and raised no
objection to the drainage details.
As Members are aware the Suds process is an additional process to planning and
controlled under separate legislation. If permitted the applicant would be made aware
of the requirement for the consent of the SuDS Approval Body (SAB) in relation to
surface water drainage, prior to the commencement of development.
Given the comments of the technical consultees, and the existence of separate
legislative controls relating to surface water drainage, it is considered reasonable to

Page 146

assume that an acceptable drainage scheme can be achieved on the site. It is
considered appropriate to secure the provision of an appropriate drainage scheme
through condition. The proposals are therefore considered acceptable in relation to
drainage.

4.2.6

Highways (including access and parking)
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
Policy ASA 3 requires adequate parking spaces for cars and bicycles in connection
with development proposals, and outlines considerations to be given to factors
relevant to the application of standards. The Parking Standards in New Developments
SPG sets out the maximum parking standards for new developments
These policies reflect general principles set out in Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11)
and TAN 18 – Transport, in support of sustainable development.
The application proposes two separate access points off Bro Deg which runs from
Trellewelyn Road to the west, through the Aberkinsey residential development and on
to the B5119 to the east. The capacity of the road network and local junctions has
been investigated as part of the application process.
Onsite parking is shown on the driveways or adjacent parking areas for each of the
dwellings proposed. Some of the dwellings also have integral garages.
The Town Council and residents have expressed concerns with the increase in traffic
generated from the development. As well as concerns over the accessibility of the
site.
Highways Officers have been involved in the collation of data and have seen the
relevant reports associated with the scheme. They have advised verbally that there is
no objection to the proposal on highway grounds. With respect to the comments of
the Town Council it would be difficult to resist the development of an allocated
housing site on the basis of the need for highway improvements in the wider area.
The suitablity and sustainability of the site for additional residential development was
assessed as part of the LDP process. The site is within the development boundary
and there are pubic transport links within the area. The nearest bus stop is located on
Bro Deg approximately 340 metres walking distance from the centre of the site. There
are also further bus stops located along Colin Drive, approximately 530 metres from
the site. Both stops offer bus services to the Town Centre. The Passenger Transport
Officer has advised that it is intended to create additional stops within Aberkinsey,
however as the much of the road is unadopted at present these cannot be finalised.
There are no concerns with the accessibility or location of the allocation housing site.
On the basis of the plans and highways information submitted, it is considered that
the proposal would not have an unacceptable impact upon the safe a free flow of
traffic on the public highway subject to the inclusion of conditions (to be confirmed by
the Highways Officer) on any planning permission.

4.2.7

Affordable Housing
Policy BSC 1 of the Local Development Plan states that developers will be expected
to provide a range of house sizes, types and tenures to reflect local need and
demand.
Policy BSC3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute where relevant to the provision of infrastructure including
affordable housing, in line with Policy BSC4.

Page 147

Policy BSC 4 seeks to ensure, where relevant, 10% affordable housing either on site
on developments of 10 or more residential units or by way of a financial contribution
on development of less than 10 residential units.
There is detailed guidance in the Affordable Housing Supplementary Planning
Guidance on the approach to provision and demand.
Planning Policy Wales (PPW 11) Section 4.2.25 states that a community’s need for
affordable housing is a material planning considerations which must be taken into
account in formulating development plan policies and the determination of planning
applications. It states that where development plan policies make clear that an
element of affordable housing is required on specific sites, this will be a material
consideration.
There is an established need for affordable housing throughout Denbighshire,
including Rhyl. The application proposes that 11 of the 109 dwellings would be
affordable and Officers are aware that the Developer had initial discussions with a
local social landlord to deliver the affordable housing on the site. Whilst it is noted
policy suggests affordable units should be spread through the development, for the
purposes of management in this case the RSL’s preference is to group their dwellings
together. Given that this is the 5th Phase of residential development at the Aberkinsey
site and there are other affordable dwellings located throughout the wider site,
delivered via the earlier phases, the preferred approach considered acceptable in this
case.
To comply with policy it would be necessary to secure affordable provision through a
suitable Obligation under S106 of the Planning Act which the Agent accepts. If
permission were to be considered, this would be subject to completion of such an
agreement.

4.2.8

Open Space
Policy BSC 3 of the local development plan sets the basic requirement for
development to contribute, where relevant, to the provision of infrastructure, including
recreation and open space, in accordance with Policy BSC 11.
Policy BSC 11 specifies that all new housing developments should make adequate
provision for recreation and open space. All such schemes put increased demand on
existing open spaces and facilities and therefore the policy applies to all
developments including single dwellings.
The proposed development includes the provision of 0.36ha of open space on site;
including a ‘Local Equipped Area of Play’. Since a residential scheme of 109
dwellings requires the overall provision of 0.60 ha, a commuted sum for ‘off-site’ open
space provision is proposed to compensate for the shortfall. This will necessitate an
additional commuted sum payment of £36,248.50 towards the overall provision of
open space as part of the proposed development.
The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to open space policy subject to the
requisite contribution being secured through an Obligation under S106 of the Planning
Act which the Agent accepts. If permission were to be considered, this would be
subject to completion of such an agreement.

4.2.9

Density of development
Policy RD1 test ii) seeks to make the most efficient use of land and advocates a
minimum density of 35 dwellings per hectare unless there are local circumstances
that dictate a lower density.
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note ‘Residential Development’ reinforces the
need for developments to make the best use of land available for residential
development in line with Policy RD 1.

Page 148

The table in Policy BSC 1 refers to an indicative number of 100 dwellings on the site.
The layout proposes 109 dwellings across the 3.5 ha site, a density of approximately
122 dwellings per ha.
Officers consider the density to be reasonable for the site, achieving a balance
between the need to make efficient use of land and protecting the amenity of the
area.
4.2.10 Mix of dwelling types
Local policy BSC1 sets out that ‘Developers will be expected to provide a range of
house sizes, types and tenure to reflect local need and demand and the results of the
Local Housing Market Assessment.’ This requirement goes beyond the provision of
market and affordable houses, and includes the mix of houses addressing the
findings and results of the latest local housing market assessment (LHMA).
The LHMA 2019 sets out the suggested dwelling mix of 30% 1&2 beds, 35% 3 beds,
and 35% 4+ bed dwellings. The proposal would deliver a mix of 18% 1&2 beds, 47%
3 beds and 35% 4+ beds.
As set out above a mix of one to four bedroom units of varying sizes is proposed on
the site. The Agent has provided a justification for the range of dwelling proposed in
the most recent submission. The Policy Section have scrutinised this information,
Including the views of local land agents, and this is not disputed. Hence, the mix is
considered suitable and within the terms of LDP Policy BSC 1.

4.2.11 Education
Objective 12 of Chapter 4 of the Local Development Plan identifies that the Plan will
ensure that an adequate level of community infrastructure (including schools) will be
provided alongside new developments. Policy BSC 3 seeks to ensure, where
relevant, infrastructure contributions from development.
The Planning Obligations SPG states that Education contributions will be sought from
proposed developments which comprise of 5 or more dwellings, or a site area of 0.2
hectares or more, that have the potential to increase demand on local schools. Within
paragraph 13.6 of the SPG, there are exceptions set out in relation to the provision of
school places based on the type of residential development proposed and the SPG
states that contributions will not be sought in the following circumstances:The nearest primary school to the proposed development is Ysgol Llewelyn which is
currently at over its capacity of 611 pupils. Therefore there is a need to create
additional spaces for 26 pupils to accommodate the demand that will be created by
the new development. Hence, a contribution of £416,000 (= 26 pupils x £16,000) will
be required for the provision of primary education facility places.
There is also a need for secondary places to request £48,000 to cater for the demand
of 3 additional spaces at Rhyl High School. That results in the request for a total
amount of £465,000 towards provision of additional places for pupils at local
Education facilities.
The proposal is considered acceptable in relation to Education provision policy
subject to the requisite contribution being secured through an Obligation under S106
of the Planning Act which the Agent accepts. If permission were to be considered, this
would be subject to completion of such an agreement.
4.2.12 Impact on Welsh Language and Social and Cultural Fabric
The requirement to consider the needs and interests of the Welsh Language is set out
in Policy RD 5 in the Local Development Plan. However, subsequent to the adoption
of the Local Development Plan the Welsh Government issued further advice and
policy on the subject. It is no longer justified to expect a planning application on an
allocated housing site to demonstrate its impact upon the Welsh language and
community as that will have been assessed at allocation stage.

Page 149

The Community Linguistic Statement submitted with the application concludes that
the proposals would have no negative impact on the needs and interests of the Welsh
Language.
The impact of development on the Welsh language has been assessed during
deliberations on the Local Development Plan. On the basis of the information
submitted, in Officers opinion a residential development on this site would not by
virtue of its size, scale, and location give rise to significant harm to the character and
language balance of the community.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The application proposes residential development on a site allocated for housing within the
Local Development Plan. As assessment of the relevant impacts of the development has
been made by Officers who conclude that the development is acceptable.
5.2 It is therefore recommended that Members resolve to grant planning permission subject the
completion of a Section 106 Obligation to secure the 11 dwellings for affordable housing, the
open space and a financial contribution towards open space, and education.
The precise wording of the agreement would be a matter for the legal officer to finalise. In the
event of failure to complete the agreement within 12 months of the date of the resolution of
the planning committee, the application would be reported back to the Committee for
determination against the relevant policies and guidance at that time. The Certificate of
Decision would not be released until the completion of the agreement.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:-

1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 14th July 2026

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) House Type Range (January 2021) received 23 April 2021
(ii) Drainage feasibility layout 1 (Drawing No. 18176/01/1 Rev. E) received 21 May 2021
(iii) Drainage feasibility layout 2 (Drawing No. 18176/01/2 Rev. E) received 21 May 2021
(iv) Landscape 1 of 2 (Drawing No. LDS445-02E) received 21 May 2021
(v) Landscape 2 of 2 (Drawing No. LDS445-03E) received 21 May 2021
(vi) Landscape Specification (LDS445(E)-LS) 21 May 2021
(vii) Indicative Street scenes (Drawing No. AH129 SS01 Rev. A) received 23 April 2021

Page 150

(viii) Topographic Survey (Drawing No. 10028/1B (Sheets 1,2,3)) received 27 December 2018
(ix) Proposed Planning Layout (Drawing No. PL01 Rev. P29) received 18 June 2021
(x) Location Plan (Drawing No. LP01) received 23 April 2021
(xi) Boundary Treatment Plan (Drawing No. BT01 Rev. B) received 21 May 2021
(xii) Materials Plan (Drawing No. ML01 Rev. B) received 21 May 2021
(xiii) Design and Access Statement received 27 December 2018
(xiv) Pre-application consultation report received 27 December 2018
(xv) Ecological Report v4 received 27 December 2018 and Addendum received 23 April 2021
(xvi) Tree Survey received 27 December 2018
(xvii) Transport Assessment (Issue 3 - May 2021) received 21 May 2021
(xviii) Flood Statement received 21 April 2020
(xix) Welsh Language Impact Assessment received 21 April 2020
(xx) Market Demand Report (April 2021) received 23 April 2021
3.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
No site clearance or construction works shall be permitted to commence until the written
approval of the Local Planning Authority has been obtained to a detailed Construction Method
Statement. The Statement shall provide details of:
a) the arrangements for the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors;
b) the location of any construction compound and measures to reinstate the land following
completion of the works;
c) the hours of site works and deliveries;
d) the proposed routing of delivery vehicles, and directional signing along public roads where
necessary;
e) the location of areas designated for the loading, unloading, and storage of plant and
materials;
f) the proposals for security fencing or hoardings around the site;
g) pollution prevention and control measures, including measures to control the emission of
dust and dirt and to prevent pollution of watercourses;
h) the measures to minimise noise and disturbance to neighbouring properties;
i) wheel washing facilities;
j) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works;
k) any proposed external lighting;
l) the piling methods, in the event that this form of foundation construction is proposed.
The development shall be carried out strictly in accordance with the approved elements of the
Construction Method Statement throughout the construction period.

4.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
No development shall take place until a fully detailed scheme of foul drainage has been
submitted to, and approved by, the Local Planning Authority and the approved scheme shall
be completed before the occupation of the first dwelling.

5.

All planting comprised in the approved details of landscaping shall be carried out no later than
the first planting and seeding season following the commencement of development. Any
trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion of the development die,
are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased shall be replaced in the next planting
season with others of similar size and species, unless otherwise agreed in writing.

6.

All trees and hedges to be retained as part of the development hereby permitted shall be
protected during site clearance and construction work by 1 metre high fencing erected 1
metre outside the outermost limits of the branch spread, or in accordance with an alternative
scheme agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority; no construction materials or
articles of any description shall be burnt or placed on the ground that lies between a tree trunk
or hedgerow and such fencing, nor within these areas shall the existing ground level be raised
or lowered, or any trenches or pipe runs excavated, without prior written consent of the Local
Planning Authority

7.

The development hereby approved shall be undertaken in accordance with the proposed
mitigation, compensation and enhancement set out in the submitted Ecological report

Page 151

(reference Hodnett, T. (2021). Addendum to - Planning Application Assessment: Aberkinsey
Park, Phase two, Rhyl; South East, Rhyl. Ecology Design Consultant. Unpublished)
8.

PRE-COMMENCEMENT CONDITION
No development shall take place until a fully detailed Ecological Compliance Audit Scheme
and Biosecurity Risk Assessment has been submitted and implemented to the satisfaction of
the Local Planning Authority in accordance with the approved details.

9.

Prior to the installation of any lighting, an external lighting/internal light spillage scheme shall
be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority and all lighting
installed shall be in accordance with the approved details.

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
2.
3.
4.

5.
6.
7.
8.
9.

To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.
In the interests of the safety and the free flow of traffic on the adjoining highway, pollution
prevention and control, and to protect residential amenity of neighbouring properties.
To prevent hydraulic overloading of the public sewerage system, to protect the health and
safety of existing residents, ensure no pollution of or detriment to the environment and in the
interests of flood risk management.
In the interests of visual amenity.
In the interest of visual amenity.
In the interest of preserving ecological interests.
In the interest of preserving ecological interests.
In the interest of maintaining the favourable conservation status of protected species.

Page 152

Agenda Item 8
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2020/0844/PF

PROPOSAL:

Alteration and adaptation of existing nursing home to include
extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy

LOCATION:

Sandy Lodge 83 Dyserth Road Rhyl LL18 4DT

Page 153

This page is intentionally left blank

45/2020/0844
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 302787, 381157
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 14:57:05
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408

Page 155

Page 156

Page 157

Page 158

Sandy Lodge, Rhyl
Photos taken by Case Officer 27/05/2021 in sequence walking around the site
(Left Hand Side LHS/Right Hand Side RHS used for ease of reference)
1. Front elevation; stair enclosure proposed on front of two storey section on RHS

2. Front entrance area/ ramp; proposed to be remodelled

Page 159

Page 160

3. View to Rear/Side looking to boundary towards Canterbury House

4. Part Rear elevation; infill extension proposed ‘behind’ the conservatory

Page 161

Page 162

5. Full Rear elevation; infill extension proposed ‘behind’ the conservatory

6. Looking from site to Rear – Dwellings off Cae Gruffydd RHS back

Page 163

Page 164

7. Looking from site to Rear – Dwelling off Cae Gruffydd LHS back

8. Side elevation; stairwell proposed to be enclosed

Page 165

Page 166

9. Looking to side boundary with Footpath and Nursery beyond; annex building at the front of site
(detached white building at the far end of photo)

10. View from within site looking out to road; gate and temporary hoardings

Page 167

Page 168

Photo locations from Google Map Aerial Photo and original site frontage from street view for
reference only –
Dyserth Road to the north of the site at top of Aerial View, Canterbury House to west (LHS) of
Sandy Lodge, Summerhouse Out of School Club/Nursery to the east (RHS), Dwellings off Cae
Gruffydd to the south (bottom of photo)

Page 169

Page 170

Emer O'Connor
WARD :

Rhyl South East

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Brian Blakeley
Cllr Brian Jones (c)
Cllr Cheryl Williams

APPLICATION NO:

45/2020/0844/PF

PROPOSAL:

Alteration and adaptation of existing nursing home to include
extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor, two fire
escape stair enclosures and entrance canopy

LOCATION:

Sandy Lodge 83 Dyserth Road Rhyl LL18 4DT

APPLICANT:

Mr Sohail Qureshi Kuklous

CONSTRAINTS:

PROWArticle 4 Direction

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Member request for referral to Committee
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
RHYL TOWN COUNCIL
No objection.
RE-CONSULTATION RESPONSES (IF RELEVANT): N/A
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
Richard Summers, 11 Lon Ystrad, Rhyl
Sophie Anderton, 2 Trellewelyn Close, Rhyl
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
Objection to use of the site to provide accommodation to secure patients.
Works commenced on site without planning permission.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 24/12/2020
EXTENSION OF TIME AGREED: 14/04/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):




additional information required from applicant
awaiting consideration by Committee
Deferral from previous Committee

PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals

Page 171

1.1.1

Members will note this item was deferred from the previous Committee (June) for a
Site Panel to take place. As Members are aware Site Panels have not been
undertaken since the Covid 19 Pandemic forced a change in working practices. As
such Officers reviewed the relevant Coronavirus Regulations and consulted the Legal
Section on the matter. The regulations would now allow Site panel meetings to take
place. The details of this site panel meeting will be reported in the late representation
sheets.

1.1.2

Prior to this Members will recall this item was deferred from the April Committee to
enable consideration of this scheme alongside another application that was under
consideration at the site, reference 45/2020/0904. That application related to
alterations to the annex/office building at the front eastern corner of the site however
was on hold pending resolution of design and protected species issues. The
application has now been withdrawn by the Agent, therefore Officers consider there
are no grounds to hold this application up any further.

1.1.3

The application proposes alterations and adaptation of Sandy Lodge (an existing
nursing home), to include an extension of two additional bedrooms on the first floor,
two fire escape stair enclosures and an entrance canopy.

1.1.4

The first floor bedroom extension would be over an existing flat roofed link between
the original building and a recent extension. It would add an additional storey with
pitched roof. Windows are proposed on the front and rear of the extension to serve
the two additional bedrooms.

1.1.5

The stair enclosures would be sited either side of the building. The enclosure on the
eastern side would be three storey and the enclosure on the west would be two
storey. The enclosures reflect the side of the building they are attached to with the
eastern side reflecting the Victorian design and materials, with high pitched roofline,
window and materials to match the main building. The western enclosure would
reflect the more modern extension is attached to. Windows are proposed on the front
of both stair enclosures to match the windows on their respective elevations.

1.1.6

At the entrance it is proposed to introduce a timber framed canopy structure and remodel the entrance ramp.
Existing south elevation:

Proposed south elevation (showing proposed first floor extension):

Page 172

1.2 Other relevant information/supporting documents in the application
1.2.1 The application is supported by a Design and Access Statement. The DAS explains
the works in more detail;
“The proposal is to create 2 additional bedrooms as an infill on the first floor between
the original building and a more recent extension. The current building has 22
bedrooms, some of which are substandard and do not comply with HIW minimum
care standards. Internally the proposal is to create 19 bedrooms with en suite facilities
which will be fully compliant with the standards and good practice.
In addition the two existing external fire escape stairs are to be removed and replaced
with two fully enclosed stairs which in the event of a fire evacuation will allow
residents to be helped to safety without having to under-take a vertical escape on an
exposed steel escape staircase.
To assist the access and approach to the main entrance, it is proposed to create a
covered approach and ambulant stepped approach to the main entrance, whilst
adapting and maintaining the existing ramp.”
1.2.2

In relation to the use of the site the Agent is aware of concerns locally, including those
raised by local County Councillors, whom they have engaged with.
In relation to the use, the Agent has advised:
“The application does not include change of use as the site is permitted to be used as
a C2 Residential Institution. The C2 Residential Institution planning use class covers
Care Homes, Hospitals and Convalescent Homes.
The Applicants care model still falls within the C2 use class. The site will be used in a
similar way to a Rehab Hospital, Independent Hospital, or Rehab Facility. Some
patients can be admitted under the mental health act for a brief period, just like certain
patients in nursing or care homes are detained or restricted under the Mental
Capacity Act 2005, for a period. Details about the site operators can be seen at
https://medirose.com/about-us/#our-philosophy.
In relation to the unsightly security fencing, these temporary hoardings were erected
as an attempt to prevent trespass as the site, as whilst it has been vacant it has
suffered several acts of vandalism (with the site and buildings being broken into for
acts of vandalism and theft by the removal of copper and cabling). The temporary
hoarding will be removed when the development is completed.”

1.3 Description of site and surroundings
1.3.1 The site is located off Dyserth Road on the approach to Rhyl. This is a primarily
residential area with a limited amount of other uses such as the care home on this site
and the adjacent site to the west, and a Children’s nursery on the site to the east.
1.3.2

Sandy Lodge is set back from the road, with a small subsidiary office building to the
front on the eastern side. The site is relatively flat with well-established landscaping

Page 173

which would not be altered by this application. The vehicular access point exists off
Dyserth Road with parking areas to the east and south of the site.
1.3.3

Sandy Lodge comprises an original three storey Victorian nursing home with more
contemporary Georgian/Edwardian style extension. The building is mainly finished in
brick and some stone detailing with plain concrete roof tiles. Windows are a mix of
timber and UPVC.

1.4 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.4.1 The site is located within the development boundary of Rhyl. There are no other
designations on the site.
1.4.2

There is a footpath abutting the eastern boundary of the site.

1.5 Relevant planning history
1.5.1 It is understood that Sandy Lodge was extended following the grant of planning
permission in 2004.
1.5.2

The site is a long established care home, which has the benefit of a Certificate of
Lawfulness in the 1990’s for “use as a residential and nursing home” which in
planning terms is a Class C2 Use.

1.6 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.6.1 Since its submission there has ongoing discussions with the Agents over the use of
the site, this is mentioned above at paragraphs 1.2.1 and 1.2.2.
1.7 Other relevant background information
1.7.1 Whilst appreciating local concerns Officers do not dispute the use of the site. Sandy
Lodge is a well-established care home. To use it as a mental hospital would not
require planning permission as hospitals clearly fall within Use Class C2. C2 uses
include residential institutions such as hospitals and convalescent/nursing homes,
and residential schools, colleges and training centres. Indeed Members will remember
that Planning Committee permitted the use of 64 Brighton Road as a similar facility
earlier this year and the use was not disputed in that case.
1.7.3

The Use Classes Order 1987 defines "care" as personal care for people in need of
such care by reason of old age, disablement, past or present dependence on alcohol
or drugs or past or present mental disorder.

1.7.4

It has been suggested that a more appropriate use of the site would be Use Class
C2A Secure Residential Institutions. By way of background this use class was
introduced in 2006 and includes secure hospitals alongside prisons, young offenders’
institutions and detention centres. Officer’s opinion which is informed by a review of
similar cases, is that these uses are concerned with detaining people as they pose a
risk to the wider community, whereas the residents of Sandy Lodge would be
detained for their own personal safety. This is a key determining factor in considering
the necessity for a change us use in this case.

1.7.5

There is another application currently under consideration at the site, reference
45/2020/0904. This application relates to alterations to the annex/office building at the
front eastern corner of the site. However it is currently ‘on hold’ pending receipt of
additional information from the Agent.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1
45/2004/1428 Alterations and extension of the existing nursing home. Granted
6/12/2004 ref
2.2

45/2005/0174 Alterations and extension of the existing nursing home amendment to
1428. Granted 17/2/2005

Page 174

2.3

2/RHY/005/94/E Certificate of Lawfulness for use of premises as a residential and
nursing home. Certified 14/11/199

2.4

45/2020/0904 Erection of two storey extension to rear and single storey sun lounge
extension to existing annex to provide additional living accommodation and office
space to be used in conjunction with nursing home including formation of additional
window/door openings, installation of solar panels and associated works. Withdrawn
23/04/2021

3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD1 – Sustainable development and good standard design
Policy BSC1 – Growth Strategy for Denbighshire
Policy BSC12 – Community facilities
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Access For All
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales (Edition 11) February 2021
Development Control Manual November 2016
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
3.3 Other material considerations
4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.
The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3
4.1.4
4.1.5

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Highways (including access and parking)
Fear of crime

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:

Page 175

4.2.1

Principle
Sandy Lodge is located within the development boundary of Rhyl. The Strategic
policies of the development plan seek to concentrate new development in existing
settlements, subject to the consideration of environmental impacts.
The site is an existing care facility. Health care is highlighted as a key facility for
communities in the policy justification of BSC 12, the policy that supports community
facilities.
It is the opinion of Officers that the proposal for minor extensions to this existing care
home are acceptable in principle. The detailed impacts are reviewed in the following
sections of the report.

4.2.2

Visual amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which are matters relevant to the
visual impact of development; test (vi) requires that development does not
unacceptably affect prominent public views into, out of, or across any settlement or
area of open countryside; test (vi) requires the incorporation of existing landscape or
other features, takes account of site contours, and changes in levels and prominent
skylines; and test (xiii) requires the incorporation of suitable landscaping measures to
protect and enhance development in its local context.
The application is minor alterations at the sides and rear of the existing care home.
The extensions would be broadly subordinate to the original building. They have been
designed sympathetically to reflect the character and appearance of the sections the
existing building on where they are located.
Therefore it is considered that there are no grounds to resist the development on
visual amenity grounds at this stage. It is not considered that the application conflicts
with the visual impact policies of RD1.

4.2.3

Residential amenity
Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 test (i) requires due regard to issues of siting,
layout, form, character, design, materials, aspect, microclimate and intensity of use of
land / buildings and spaces between buildings, which touch on the potential for impact
on residential amenity; test (vi) sets the requirement to assess the impact of
development on the amenities of local residents, other land and property users, or
characteristics of the locality, in terms of increased activity, disturbance, noise, dust,
fumes, litter, drainage, light pollution, etc
The application proposes two stairwell enclosures, with windows to the front. A first
floor infill extension within the existing footprint of the building and alterations to the
frontage. This is an existing care home and the Agent state that the internal rearranging to provide en-suite rooms will result in less bedrooms than existing with
accommodation, with bed spaces for 19 patients proposed.
Given the location of the development on the side, and rear of the site and the
physical relationship with adjacent non-residential uses and nearby dwellings, at the
distances and scale involved it is not considered there would be significant adverse
impacts from overlooking or overshadowing. There is sufficient space around the site
for amenity of the proposed occupiers. It is not considered that the proposal raised
policy conflicts in relation to amenity.

4.2.4

Highways (including access and parking)

Page 176

Local Development Plan Policy RD 1 supports development proposals subject to
meeting tests (vii) and (viii) which oblige provision of safe and convenient access for a
range of users, together with adequate parking, services and manoeuvring space;
and require consideration of the impact of development on the local highway network.
The proposals would not alter the existing access arrangements to or from the site
from Dyserth Road or the parking arrangements. A less intensive use is proposed
overall owing to a reduction in bed spaces.
In Officers’ opinion there would be no highways impacts as a result of the proposal.
Therefore is no conflict with the highways considerations of Policy RD1.
4.2.5

Fear of crime
Policy RD 1 - Sustainable development and good standard design test xii) states that
development should take account of personal and community safety and security in
the design and layout of development and public/private spaces and have regard to
implications for crime and disorder.
It is established that fear of crime can be a material consideration and test xii) of RD1
adds a policy hook for such a consideration, however like all potential impacts
evidence is required to substantiate this as a ground for refusal of permission.
The use of the site is discussed above. The Agents have advised that the hospital
would be secure and would be regulated by the Care Standard Inspectorate for
Wales.
Whilst the security concerns are a consideration, Officers do not feel the proposal
which involves two stairwells and an infill extension would in itself directly impact on
crime and security in the area.
Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the
Council not only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable
steps in exercising its functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being)
objectives. The Act sets a requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application
determined, how the development complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3
‘Well-being duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development
Principles’ of the Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The
recommendation is made in accordance with the Act’s sustainable development
principle through its contribution towards Welsh Governments well-being objective of
supporting safe, cohesive and resilient communities. It is therefore considered that
there would be no significant or unacceptable impact upon the achievement of wellbeing objectives as a result of the proposed recommendation.

5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 The report sets out what Officers believe to be the main issues of relevance to the
consideration of the application. Officer must stress to Members whilst we recognise there are
local concerns regarding the use of the site, those issues are not a material consideration on
this application. This application is for building alterations to an existing building, with an
existing lawful use.
Having regard to the scale of the development, the relevant planning policies and material
considerations, Officers do not consider that there is any clear evidence of material harm

Page 177

likely to arise as a result of the development.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT- subject to the following conditions:1.

The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 14th April 2026

2.

The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown
on the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any
other condition pursuant to this permission:
(i) Existing elevations (Drawing No. EX04) received 30 October 2020
(ii) Existing ground floor plan (Drawing No. EX01) received 30 October 2020
(iii) Existing basement floor plan (Drawing No. EX05) received 30 October 2020
(iv) Existing first floor plan (Drawing No. EX02) received 30 October 2020
(v) Existing second floor plan (Drawing No. EX03) received 30 October 2020
(vi) Proposed elevations (Drawing No. P04) received 30 October 2020
(vii) Proposed ground floor plan (Drawing No. P01) received 30 October 2020
(viii) Proposed first floor plan (Drawing No. P02) received 30 October 2020
(ix) Proposed second floor plan (Drawing No. P03) received 30 October 2020
(x) existing site and location plan (Drawing No. EX00) received 30 October 2020
(xi) Proposed site and location plan (Drawing No. P00 Rev. A) received 5 November 2020

The reasons for the conditions are:1.
To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.
2.
For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 178

Agenda Item 9
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0257/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of rear two storey extension with adjoining single storey
extension

LOCATION:

2 Bryn Ibod Waen St Asaph LL17 0DY

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

47/2021/0257
Graddfa / Scale: 1:1250
Canol / Centre: 306145, 372505
Dyddiad / Date: 2021-05-26 15:00:50
© Hawlfraint y Goron a hawliau cronfa ddata 2021 Arolwg Ordnans 100023408 © Crown copyright and
database rights 2021 Ordnance Survey 100023408
Page 181

Page 182

Page 183

Page 184

Existing Elevations

Page 185

Page 186

Proposed Elevations

Page 187

Page 188

Page 189

Front of property

Page 190

Page 191

Rear of property and adjoining property

Page 192

Page 193

Rear of property and adjoining property

Page 194

Page 195

Rear of property and other neighbouring property

Page 196

Denise Shaw
WARD :

Tremeirchion

WARD MEMBER(S):

Cllr Christine Marston (c)

APPLICATION NO:

47/2021/0257/ PF

PROPOSAL:

Erection of rear two storey extension with adjoining single storey
extension

LOCATION:

2 Bryn Ibod Waen St Asaph

APPLICANT:

Pattison

CONSTRAINTS:

N/A

PUBLICITY
UNDERTAKEN:

Site Notice - No
Press Notice - No
Neighbour letters - Yes

REASON(S) APPLICATION REPORTED TO COMMITTEE:
Scheme of Delegation Part 2
 Recommendation to grant / approve – Town / Community Council objection
CONSULTATION RESPONSES:
TREMEIRCHION, CWM & WAEN COMMUNITY COUNCIL
Our Council has considered this application.
It wishes to object to the proposal on the grounds:
i) That what is proposed is so large that it will significantly block natural light falling on the
neighbouring property.
ii) One large patio style window in the application will overlook the neighbours' property
significantly compromising their privacy.
RESPONSE TO PUBLICITY:
In objection
Representations received from:
John Piper, 1 Bryn Ibod, Waen
Summary of planning based representations in objection:
- Adverse impact on amenity of neighbouring property due to overshadowing and overbearing
impact.
- Extension would be built over the existing main sewer.
- Overdevelopment as it is far bigger than the current existing property.
- Would affect party wall with neighbouring property.
EXPIRY DATE OF APPLICATION: 17/05/2021
REASONS FOR DELAY IN DECISION (where applicable):

awaiting consideration by Committee
PLANNING ASSESSMENT:
1. THE PROPOSAL:
1.1 Summary of proposals
1.1.1 The proposal is for the erection of a two storey extension to the rear of the property,
with single storey lean-to extension either side, as shown on the proposed plans.

Page 197

1.1.2

Members will note this item was deferred from the previous Committee (June) for a
Site Panel to take place. The details of the Site Panel meeting will be reported on the
late representation sheets.

1.1.3

The extension would project 4 metres from the rear elevation, and would
accommodate a kitchen / diner and utility room at ground floor level and a bedroom
above.
Proposed rear elevation:

Proposed ground floor plan:

Proposed first floor plan:

Proposed site plan:

Page 198

Proposed size plan (annotated by Officers)

1.2 Description of site and surroundings
1.2.1 The site is a semi-detached property which forms part of a small row of properties
facing the public highway, which is located in an open countryside location.
1.2.2

There are neighbouring properties to either side, and the adjoining property has a
single storey extension to the rear.

1.2.3

The boundary with the adjoining neighbour is marked with a brick wall and timber
fence, and there is an outhouse in the rear garden which is attached to similar
outhouse in the neighbour’s garden.

1.3 Relevant planning constraints/considerations
1.3.1 The site lies in an open countryside location.

Page 199

1.4 Relevant planning history
1.4.1 None of relevance.
1.5 Developments/changes since the original submission
1.5.1 None.
1.6 Other relevant background information
1.6.1 Public representations have noted the extension would be built over a mains sewer.
1.6.2

Members are advised that mains sewer infrastructure is protected under separate
water industry legislation, and accordingly the applicant would need to obtain formal,
separate consent from Dwr Cymru Welsh Water to build over their assets.

1.6.3

Members are reminded that planning decisions should not duplicate control under
other legislation. However, should planning permission be granted, a note to applicant
is proposed to be included on the decision notice to advise the applicant of the
separate legislative requirements. In Officers opinion, the presence of mains sewers
within the site is not a material planning consideration in the determination of this
application.

2. DETAILS OF PLANNING HISTORY:
2.1 None of relevance.
3. RELEVANT POLICIES AND GUIDANCE:
The main planning policies and guidance are considered to be:
3.1 Local Policy/Guidance
Denbighshire Local Development Plan (adopted 4th June 2013)
Policy RD3 – Extensions and alterations to existing dwellings
Policy ASA3 – Parking standards
Supplementary Planning Guidance:
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Development
Supplementary Planning Guidance Note: Residential Space Standards
3.2 Government Policy / Guidance
Planning Policy Wales Edition 11 February 2021
Development Control Manual (2016)
Future Wales – The National Plan 2040
3.3 Other material considerations

4. MAIN PLANNING CONSIDERATIONS:
In terms of general guidance on matters relevant to the consideration of a planning application,
Section 9.1.2 of the Development Management Manual (DMM) confirms the requirement that
planning applications ‘must be determined in accordance with the approved or adopted
development plan for the area, unless material considerations indicate otherwise'. It advises that
material considerations must be relevant to the regulation of the development and use of land in
the public interest, and fairly and reasonably relate to the development concerned.
The DMM further states that material considerations can include the number, size, layout, design
and appearance of buildings, the means of access, landscaping, service availability and the
impact on the neighbourhood and on the environment (Section 9.4).
The DMM has to be considered in conjunction with Planning Policy Wales, Edition 11 (February
2021) and other relevant legislation.

Page 200

The following paragraphs in Section 4 of the report therefore refer to the policies of the
Denbighshire Local Development Plan, and to the material planning considerations which are
considered to be of relevance to the proposal.
4.1 The main land use planning issues in relation to the application are considered to be:
4.1.1
4.1.2
4.1.3

Principle
Visual amenity
Residential amenity
Other matters

4.2 In relation to the main planning considerations:
4.2.1 Principle
Policy RD 3 relates specifically to the extension and alteration of existing dwellings,
and states that these will be supported subject to compliance with detailed criteria.
The Residential Development SPG offers basic advice on the principles to be
adopted when designing domestic extensions and related developments.
The principle of appropriate extensions and alterations to existing dwellings is
therefore acceptable. The assessment of the specific impacts of the development
proposed is set out in the following sections.
4.2.2

Visual Amenity
Criteria i) of Policy RD 3 requires the scale and form of the proposed extension or
alteration to be subordinate to the original dwelling, or the dwelling as it was 20 years
before the planning application is made.
Criteria ii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal is sympathetic in design, scale,
massing and materials to the character and appearance of the existing building.
Criteria iii) of Policy RD3 requires that a proposal does not represent an
overdevelopment of the site.
The visual amenity and landscape impacts of development should be regarded as a
potential material consideration.
A public representation has raised concerns that the proposal would represent
overdevelopment of the site.
Whilst respecting the concerns raised, Officers consider the proposed extension
would be subordinate in scale to the original dwelling, and would also be sympathetic
in design, scale, massing and materials. The property has a large rear garden, and
having regard to the scale and footprint, it is not considered to represent
overdevelopment of the plot.
Having regard to the design, siting, scale, massing and materials of the proposed
extension, in relation to the character and appearance of the dwelling itself, the
locality and landscape, it is considered the proposals would not have an unacceptable
impact on visual amenity and would therefore be in general compliance with the tests
in the policies referred to.

4.2.3

Residential Amenity
Criteria iii) of Policy RD 3 requires that a proposal does not represent an
overdevelopment of the site.
The residential amenity impacts of development should therefore be regarded as a
potential material consideration.

Page 201

The Residential Development SPG states that no more than 75% of a residential
property should be covered by buildings.
The Residential Space Standards SPG specifies that 40m2 of private external amenity
space should be provided as a minimum standard for residential dwellings.
Representations on the residential amenity impacts have been made by the
Community Council residential neighbour on grounds of overbearing impacts and
overshadowing on neighbouring property.
The proposal is for a two storey extension with single storey lean two extensions
either side. The two storey element is stepped in from the boundary with the
neighbouring property by approximately 1.9 metres.
The Residential development SPG offers useful guidance for the consideration of
impacts of extensions on adjoining properties and the 45° guide is a useful tool for
assessing potential for overshadowing to occur.
45° guide: An imaginary line is horizontally drawn at 45° from the centre of the
nearest ground floor window of any habitable room in an adjoining property. No part
of the proposed development should cross this line. This rule contains an element of
flexibility; considering the direction of sunlight and shadow fall predicted from the new
development.

Both neighbouring properties (1 and 3 Bod Ibod) have ground and first floor windows
in the rear elevations, however it should be noted that the adjoining property, No 1
has a lean to extension to the rear.
In applying the 45 degree guide referred to in the Residential Development SPG,
Officers conclude that the sight lines from ground floor windows in the rear elevation
of neighbouring properties would not breach the 45 degree line, and accordingly the
extension would not unduly overshadow windows.
It is also of note that all properties have long, deep rear gardens and therefore the
extension would not unacceptably overshadow neighbouring properties.
Whilst large windows are proposed in the rear elevation, Officers would note that
there is already a line of sight from existing first floor windows towards neighbouring
gardens, and the level of additional overlooking which may arise would not warrant a
refusal of planning permission.

Page 202

Having regard to the scale, form and design, Officers do not consider the proposal
would give rise to unacceptable overbearing impact on either neighbour.
Concerns have been raised informally (i.e. not through written representation) that the
proposal would be an overdevelopment of the site.
The Residential Development Supplementary Planning Guidance Note (SPG) at 3.18
advises that, overdevelopment occurs when a substantial part of the residential
amenity space is taken over by buildings including extensions. As a rule of thumb, no
more than 75% of the site should be covered, leaving at least 40sqm of amenity
space for a small dwelling (or 70 sqm for a larger dwelling).
Factually, the existing internal floor space is approximately 71.5 square metres. The
proposed extension would provide approximately an additional 40 square metres,
which equates to around a 55% increase in floor area.
In terms of the size of the extension within the site, members are advised that the
house is situated in a large plot, approximately 500 square metres in size. If the
extension were to be built, then the amount of development on the site (including the
house, existing outbuildings and the proposed extension) would take up less than
25% of the total site area and a substantial rear garden area which well exceeds the
minimum amenity space standards set out in the SPG would remain. In Officers
opinion, the proposal does not represent an overdevelopment of the site.

Therefore, having regard to the scale, location and design of the proposed
development, it is considered that the proposals would not have an unacceptable
impact on residential amenity, and would therefore be in general compliance with the
tests of the policies referred to.

Other matters
Well – being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015
The Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015 imposes a duty on the Council not
only to carry out sustainable development, but also to take reasonable steps in exercising its
functions to meet its sustainable development (or well-being) objectives. The Act sets a
requirement to demonstrate in relation to each application determined, how the development
complies with the Act.
The report on this application has taken into account the requirements of Section 3 ‘Wellbeing duties on public bodies’ and Section 5 ‘The Sustainable Development Principles’ of the
Well-being of Future Generations (Wales) Act 2015. The recommendation is made in
accordance with the Act’s sustainable development principle through its contribution towards
Welsh Governments well-being objective of supporting safe, cohesive and resilient
communities. It is therefore considered that there would be no significant or unacceptable
impact upon the achievement of well-being objectives as a result of the proposed
recommendation.
5. SUMMARY AND CONCLUSIONS:
5.1 Having regard to the detailing of the proposals, the potential impacts on the locality, and the
particular tests of the relevant policies, the application is considered to be acceptable and is
recommended for grant.
RECOMMENDATION: GRANT subject to the following conditions :1. The development to which this permission relates shall be begun no later than 14th July 2026
Reason:: To comply with the provisions of Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

Page 203

2. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in strict accordance with details shown on
the following submitted plans and documents unless specified as otherwise within any other condition
pursuant to this permission:
(i) Existing floor plan (drawing number P101) received 18 March 2021
(ii) Existing elervations plan (drawing number P102) received 18 March 2021
(iii) Proposed floor plan (drawing number P201) received 18 March 2021
(iv) Proposed elevations plan (drawing number P202) received 18 March 2021
(v) Location plan (drawing number P203) received 18 March 2021
(vi) Existing and Proposed site plan (drawing number P204) received 18 March 2021
Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and to ensure a satisfactory standard of development.

Page 204

